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HANDICAPPED CHILDREN'S PROTECTION ACT

TUESDAY, MARCH 12, 1985

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR,

SUBCOMMITTEE ON SELECT EDUCATION,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 1 p.m., in room 2261,
Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Pat Williams (chairman of
the subcommittee) presiding.

Members present: Representatives Williams, Biaggi, Martinez,
Bartlett, and Good ling.

Member also present: Representativq Loeffler.
Staff present: Gray Garwood, staff director; Bob Silverstein,

counsel; Colleen Thompson, clerk; and Pat Morrissey, minority
counsel.

[Text of H.R. 1523 follows:]
(1)
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I

99TH CONGRESS H. R. 15231ST SESSION

To amend the Education of the Handicapped Act to authorize the award of
reasonable attorneys' fees to certain prevailing parties, to clarify the effect of
the Education of the Handicapped Act on rights, procedures, and remedies
under other laws relating to the prohibition of discrimination, and for other
purposes.

IN THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

MARC 2 1, 1985

Mr WILLIAMS (for himself, Mr. BARTLETT, Mr. BIAGGI, Mr. MURPHY, MI.
KILDEE, Mr. MARTINEZ, Mr OWENS, Mr. ECKART of Ohio, Mr. HAYES,
Mr. JEFFORDS, Mr BOUCHER, and Mr. 000DLINO) introduced the following
bill, which was referred to the Committee on Education and Labor

A BILL
To amend the Education of the Handicapped Act to authlrize

the award of reasonable attorneys' fees to certain prevailing

parties, to clarify the effect of the Education of the Handi-

capped Act on rights, procedures, and remedies under other

laws relating to the prohibition of discrimination, and for

other purposes.

1 Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representa-

2 Lives of the United States of America in Congress assembled,

3 SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE.

4 This Act may cited as the "Handicapped Children's

5 Protection Act of 1985".
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2

1 SEC. 2. AWARD OF ATTORNEYS' FEES.

2 Section 615(e)(4) of the Education of the Handicapped

3 Act (hereinafter in this Act referred to as "the Act") is

4 amended by inserting "(A)" after the paragraph designation

5 and by adding at the end thereof the following:

6 "(B) In any action brought under this subsection, the

7 court, in Its discretion, may award reasonable attorneys' fees

8 and other expenses as part of the cots to the parents or

9 guardian of a handicapped child or youth who is the prevail-

10 ing party.

11 "(C) A party seeking an award of fees and other ex-

12 penses shall, within thirty days of final judgment in the

13 action, submit to the court an application for fees and other

14 expenses which shows that the party is a prevailing party

15 eligible to receive an award under this subsection and which

16 indicates the amount sought, including an itemized statement

17 from any attorney or expert witress representing or appear-

18 ing in behalf of such party stating the actual time expended

19 and the rate at which fees and other expenses are computed.

20 "(D) The court, in its discretion, may increase the

21 amount to be awarded to the prevailing party pursuant to

22 this subsection if the court finds that the local or State educa-

23 tional agency or the intermediate educational unit has en-

24 gaged in conduct which unduly and unreasonably protracted

25 the final resolution of the matter in controversy or the court

7
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3

1 mey reduce the amount to be awarded or deny an award if it

2 finds that the prevailing party engaged in such conduct.

3 "(5) For purposes of this subsection-

4 "(A) the term 'fees and other expenses' includes

5 the reasonable expenses of expert witnesses, the rea-

6 sonable cost of any study, report, test, or project which

7 is found by the court to be necessary for the prepara-

8 tion of the party's case, and reasonable attorneys' fees;

9 "(B) fees awarded under this subsection shall be

10 based on prevailing market rates for the kind and qual-

1 I ity of services furnished; and

12 "(C) fees and other expenses awarded under this

13 subsection to a prevailing party may not be paid with

14 funds provided to 'i,e State under the Education of the

15 Handicapped Act.".

16 SEC.:,. EFFECT OF EDUCATION OF THE H I.NDICAPPED ACT

17 ON OTHER LAWS.

18 (a) EFFECT ON GTHER LAWS.--Section 615 of the

15 Education of the Handicapped Act is amended by inserting at

20 the end thereof she following new subsection:

21 "(f) Nothing in this title shall be construed to restrict or

22 limit the rights, r ocedures, and remedies available under the

23 Constitution, title V of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, or

24 other Federal statutes prohibiting discrimination.".

8
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1 (b) REGULATIONS UNDER SECTION 504 OF THE REHA-

2 dILITATION ACT. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of

3 1973 shall be carried out in accordance with regulations

4 under such section in effect on July 4, 1984.

5 SEC. 4. IMPROVEMENTS IN PROCEDURAL SAFEGUARDS

6 UNDER THE ACT.

7 (a) PUBLIC ACCESS TO HEARING DECISIONS.Sec-

8 tion 615(d)(4) of the Act is amended by inserting "shall be

9 made available to the public consistent with the requirements

10 of section C17(c) and" after "decisions".

11 (b) INFORMAL COMPLAINT RESOLUTION PROCE-

12 DURE.Section 615(b)(2) is amended-

13 (1) by striking out the first sentence and inserting

14 in lieu thereof the following:

15 "Wh,3never a complaint has been received under paragraph

16 (1) of this subsection, the parents or guardian shall be provid-

17 ed an opportunity to meet informally with the State or local

18 educational agency or intermediate educational unit to re-

19 solve the complaint. If the complaint is not resolved satisfac-

20 torily or a decision is made not to meet informally, the par-

21 ents or guardian shall have an opportunity for an impartial

22 due process hearing which shall be conducted by the State

23 educational agency, the local educational agency, or an inter-

24 mediate educational unit as determined by State law or by

25 the State educational agency."; and
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1 (2) by inserting at the end of such paragraph the

2 following new sentence:

3 "Any decision regarding participation in an informal meeting

I under this paragraph shall not affect the availability or provi-

5 sion of any rights of the parents or guardian under this sec-

6 tion.".

7 SEC. 5. EFFECTIVE DATE.

8 (a) GENERAL PROVISION.Except as provided m sub-

9 section (b), the provisions of this Act shall take effect on the

10 date of enactment of this Act.

11 (b) LIMITED RETROACTIVE APPLICATION.The

12 amendments made by section 2 shall apply with respect to

13 actions or proceedings brought under section 615(e) of the

14 Education of the Handicapped Act after July 3, 1984, and

15 actions or proceedings under such section brought prior to

16 July 4, 1984, which were pending on July 4, 1984.

10
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Mr. WILLIAMS. Good afternoon. This hearing by the Subcommit-
tee on Select Education is now convened.

Before we begin, I would like to welcome my colleagues on the
subcommittee. As many of you know, I am the incoming chairman
of this subcommittee, although I have been a member of it for
some years now. We have much business to conduct in the coming
years and I look forward to this opportunity to work with my col-
leagues on the subcommittee in these several efforts.

Today's hearing is important for several reasons. It deals with an
important substantive area which we will consider shortly, but I
hope this hearing sends three important signals to those of you
who are concerned about efforts under the jurisdiction of this sub-
committee. First, the subcommittee is committed to preseryinif the
rights of handicapped children. Second, I believe this hearing illus-
trates that members of the subcommittee are committed to a bipar-
tisan approach in addressing issues and problems that arise in any
program under our jurisdiction. Third, I believe that the way in
which H.R. 1523 has been drafted indicates my commitment to
working with all groups who have concerns about the particular
issue the subcommittee is addressing.

Today we will hear testimony from parents, school officials, rep-
resentatives of the disability community and from a practicing at-
torney. The subject of this hearing, of course, is the Handicapped
Children's Protection Act of 1985, the bill that I introduced last
week.

It is important to point out that I was joined by my colleagues
from both sides of the aisle in introducing this legislation, and that
the text of this bill reflects weeks of dialog with representatives of
various groups interested in the content of this legislation.

The Handicapped Children's Protection Act seeks to reestablish
important rights repealed by the Supreme Court and to improve
the clue process procedures available to handicapped children
under the Education of the Handicapped Act. The Court's decision
last year in Smith v. Robinson had the effect of repealing impor-
tant statutory rights Congress had intended to be available to
handicapped children.

The Court ruled that parents who prevailed in litigation against
a put lic education agency were not eligible to recover the costs of
such an action. This decision does not maintain the careful balance
that the legislation and judicial decisions had created prior to
Smith v. Robinson. Instead, the Court has undone this balance by
creating a state of imbalance and confusion regarding the rights
and responsibilities of both parents and schools.

I know of no school official who would willfully act against the
interests of handicapped children. I know of no parent who would
willfully seek to force schools to bear unnecessary costs. Schools
and parents both seek to do what is right. I am convinced of that,
and yet, this decision by the Court has had the effect of turning
schools and parents each against the other.

Let's look at the facts. In the 1983-84 school year, only 1 child in
every 3,000 was involved in the first level due-process hearing and
only 1 out of every 65,000 handicapped children was involved in
actual litigation. That is less than two-thousandths of 1 percent. So
most schools and most parents must be in agreement.

11
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Specifically, our legislation allows the award of reasonable attor-
ney fees for parents who are the prevailing party in a suit. It does
not provide fees for administrative proceedings which, under the
bill, must be exhausted in appropriate circumstances before the
parent tiles suit.

It also requires school districts to offer parents an opportunity to
resolve complaints informally before proceeding to the more formal
administrative proceedings. In addition, it would require that deci-
sions handed down by school districts and the State education
agency be made available to the public.

Finally, H.R. 1523 reaffirms the Office of Civil Rir,lics' role in in-
vestigating complaints of handicap discrimination under section
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. It does not chart new ground;
it simply restores the careful balance between parent and educa-
tion agency that Congress intended to be in place.

We look forward to having the good counsel of the witnesses
today.

The gentleman from Texas, my friend who I am delighted to
have as the ranking member on this committee, Mr. Bartlett.

Mr. BARTLE-ff. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Chairman, I would like to begin my remarks by compliment-

ing the new chairman, Pat Williams, of the Subcommittee on
Select Education, for his efforts in developing H.R. 1523 into a bi-
partisan bill. We have discussed proposed bill language in great
detail and the version introduced reflects a truly joint product. I
look forward to working with the chairman on future legislative
initiatives.

I anticipate that our initial collaboration in drafting H.R. 1523
will serve as a sound basis for bipartisan cooperation during the re-
mainder of this Congress.

This hearing is important not only because it allows a full review
of the attorney's fees issue, but also because it allows us to recognize
the effectiveness of the current due process system, or the adminis-
trative hearings, currently under Public Law 94-142. The system is
working. It is clearly demonstrated by data provided by the National
Association of State Directors of Special Education.

For example, consider these facts for the school year 1983-84, a
year in which over 4 million handicapped children benefited from
Public Law 94-142. 1,462 first-level hearings were conducted, 67 of
the 1,462 resulted in litigation. Seven States accounted for 71 per-
cent of the first-level hearings.

Between th..1 school year 1979-80 and school year 1983-84, first-
level hearings dropped by some 39 percent for a sample of 34
States.

H.R. 1523, in its present form, will complement and perhaps
strengthen the impressive record of Public Law 94-142 due process
system. When the Handicapped Children's Protection Act was
originally introduced in Congress last July 1984 during the 98th
Session of Congress, I was very concerned about both the substance
of the bill and the lack of time to give it full consideration.

Congress, and I think the public, needed time to review multiple
complex issues. I believe that H.R. 1523 is a much improved ver-
sion of the original Handicapped Children's Protection Act because

12
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we have had the time to digest the implications of possible statuto-iy provisions, to talk with each other about our common and
unique concerns, and most importantly, to hear from parents of
handicapped children and from school officials.

The wording of H.R. 1523, it seems to me, is not, nor should it .-e,set in concrete. The chairman and I agree that the testimony wehear today mey suggest ways in which H.R. 1523 could be im-
proved. It represents, however, a solid foundation upon which to
m&ke such imprtr.ealents.

Let me give four illustrations. One, it limits legal representationto a parent, a guardian, or a surrogate parent, the person who is
most cenec.rned about and committed to the welfare of the handi-capped chat.. It requires that fees and expenses be awarded only
for court-related actions, not actions associated with administrative
hearings. This tends to delitigize the process and controls, to some
extent, costs associated with disputes and limits diversion of scarce
resources from the primary business of the schools, which is edu-cating children.

It requires that hearing records be made public and, finally, it
requires that parents be afforded an opportunity to meet informal-ly in some sort of a mediation process, to .neet informally with
school personnel to resolve the differences so that Arhaps theformal due process hearings may be avoided. These several provi-
sions are constructive additions.

Three issues were not addressee in H.R. 1523, and I anticipate
they will be fully addressed in the committee report. They include
a strong statement of congressional intent reflecting the impor-
tance of compliance with Public Law 94-142 due process. They in-
clude a statement urging the courts to distribute equitably between
local and State education agency the obligation to pay the fees andexpenses of the attorneya in a statement directing the courts toaward fees to a prevailing parent in p oportion to the substantive
nature of his or her claim.

I have one residual concern. I would hope that the testimony we
hear today and that is submitted for the record will guide us inreaching reasonable limits on expenses. As introduced, the H.R.
1523 provision related to expenses such as witness fees and report
costs may appear to be totally open-ended, although I believe theFederal courts will have substantial discretion and jurisdiction.

In closing, I would like for this hearing to serve as the opening
dialog cu hcw we might reduce the confrontational encounters wesometimes see, not often, but we sometimes see, between parents
and school personnel and to forge a renewed partnership betweenthem on behalf of handicapped children.

Second, I would like it to serve as the opening dialog on the disci-
plining of handicapped students in schools. We must address this
issue at some time, perhaps not in this bill, but at some time.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WILLIAMS. The gentleman from Pennsylvania.
Mr. GOODLING. I have some questions, but I will ask them later.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Fine.
I will ask the first panel, Mr. Wright, Ms. Arnold, and Mr. Wein-traub, to come to the hearing table.

13
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I understand, Mr. lltfArtlett, that you would like to introduce one
of these witnesses.

Mr. BARTLE-ff. Mr. Chairman, I would like to introduce the first
witness, Linus Wright, the superintendent of the Dallas Independ-
ent School District, and I appreciate the chairman's indulgence.

Superintendent Wright has a flight to catch in order to meet
with his school board this evening, a function which he says he is
always present for and he will be present for today. I am privileged
to introduce to the subcommittee one ofhe is my constituent
the foremost educators in the Nation. The Dallas Independent
School District has 128,000 students. It is a leader and a model for
the State of Texas and the Nation in a number of areas, including in
the field of special education.

Linus Wright has been superintendent of the Dallas Public
Sch .ols for 6 years; he is committed to the principle of providing
quality education opportunities for all students and he has worked
consistently for that goal.

I welcome Superintendent Wright to this subcommittee.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Wright, if you will take the microphone, you

may proceed. We know that you have transportation that you need
to be on time for and so we will hear your testimony first.

STATEMENT OF LINUS WRIGHT, GENERAL SUPERINTENDENT OF
SCHOOLS, DALLAS, TX, REPRESENTING THE AMERICAN ASSO-
CIATION OF SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS

Mr. WRIGHT. Chairman Williams:, members of the subcommittee,
it is a pleasure to be here with you today. My name is Linus
Wright and I am superintendent of the Pallas Independent School
District, and I e_rn also speaking on behalf of the American Associa-
tion of School Administrators, *le membership numbers about
18,000 aeministrators of public school districts throughout the
United States.

I welcome the opportunity to appear before you today to present
my views and those of my colleagues in regard to the Handicapped
Children's Protection Act of 1985. I want to make it very clear
from the very beginning that our views support those just ex-
pressed by the chairman, that there is absolutely no desire to side-
step our obligation to provide appropriate and educationally sound
learning opportunities for handicapped students.

In fact, the Dallas Independent School Dirstrict has been one of
tine leaders in providing excellent servic:z for sp3cial education stu-
dents throughout the years.

There are some real challeages in this regar7 '`however, they
could be alleviated ; minor changes in the la 'ieve that th
draft is moving, in the right direction ar' _ . like to re:-
ommend some modifications. These I will at ,) point out to
you as succinctly as I pcsaibly can this afternoon.

The point is frequentl: made that only 10 percent of U.S. school
districts are involved in litigation involving ..,pecial education stu-
dents. That doesn't sound like a lot, however, when yo consider that
11 percent of the Nation's school districts serve 65 percen', of the
students, th- these figures become use dramatic. Then add to that
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the fact that that 11 percent doubtlessly enrolls in the vast majority
of special education students in the entire Nation.

So parents with profoundly handicapped children frequently
move to Dallas for one reason: To get their children enrolled in the
Dallas schools; to get their children enrolled in exceptional pro-
grams, nrograms with a great reputation.

In aauition to the large number of handicapped students that we
normally get just because of our size, we also get many who come
specifically for special education classes. Also, consider that 55 per-
cent of all the special education students in Texas are enrolled in 8
school districts, out of 1,100.

A major concern, particularly for big city districts, is the fact
that there is no differentiation of different handicapping conditions
in the funding formulas at the State or the national level. A school
district receives exactly the same dollar allotment to provide for a
child who stuttP*,, or one who requires catheterization, tube feed-
ing, diaper changing, or what have you. When you consider that
more than 65 percent of the severely and profoundly handicapped
youth are enrolled in urban school districts, then you can readily
see the problem that we face.

Obviously, we and other urban districts have a large stake in any
legislation pertai, ng to special education.

Most litigation in regard to special education is in three areas:
One, in the placement of students; two, in related services; and
three, in discipline. The question that I ask you to consider, what
are the underlying causes of this litigation? I think we need to look
at these three main questions in this regard.

First, why should a parent of a special education student have
the right to demand that a public school district pay for placement
in an expensive private institution when the service is offered in
the public schools, especially since other parents do not have the
same right?

What I e el saying here is that if appropriate placement is provid-
ed in the public schools, placement should not be open to litigation.
Some parents request residential and private school placement for
their children at public expense becau:e they want the best for
their child. Often, however, they do not recognize that provision of
appropriate, not best, is the responsibility of the schools under the
law.

In addition, the obligation to provide residential opportunities
when appropriate raises a significant constitutional protection con-
cern. Special education must be provided for students from 3 to 21
years of age. At the present time, a child study team composed of
parents, assessment specialists, teachers, and school administrators
can place a child in a facility away from home at public expense
for a span of those years without any further procedural review.

If you think about it, that really falls in the range of the incredi-
ble. I would contend that placement in an institi *ion away from
home is the significant deprivation of liberty. It should be reviewed
by a court of competent jurisdiction if the placement exceeds 1
year.

Second, where does education stop and health care begin? There
has been a fusion of education and health needs with no clear line
of demarcation determining which services prevail. Oxygen ther-
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apy, catheterization, respiratory and suction devices, and physical
therapy are just some of the services educators are called upon to
provide.

One DSID student is brought in each morning on a stretcher and
lies comatose throughout the instructional day. Another student
listen to thisone student has central nervous disorder with sei-
zures, multiple medications and irrigating solutions required with
se%eral complex steps required; asthma and asoociated respiratory
problems, totally dependent in all self-care areas, nonambulatory,
nonpurposeful movements. Pampers, nutrients fed directly into a
tube placed through abdominal and intestinal wall via timed, 24-
hour infusion drip, feeding required 13 complicated stepsand
listen to these instructionsamong the feeding problems was "In
case the tube comes out, stop the feeding, cover the opening on her
stomach, and call her mother." That is a real-life case in the Dallas
Independent School District.

Third, my question is: Where do the special education student's
rights end in discipline cases and the rights of school personnel and
other students to function in a violent-free educational-conducive
environment begin?

The Office of Civil Rights ruling on discipline and the response
to section 504 of the Vocational Rehabilitation Act of 1973 says
that any change of placement automatically triggers the admission,
review and dismissal, or the ARD process as we commonly refer to
it, of hearings and due process procedures. Any time a special el
student is suspended from class for more than 3 days, an alternate
education plan must be provided.

This involves holding an ARD committee meeting which must
recommend alternative plans. Normally such a committee would
consist of teachers, principals, an educational diagnostician, a
nurse, a student counselor, a psychologist, and the parents.

Just to give you an idea of some of the complexities involved in
special education discipline cases, let me give you a few examples.
A retarded student with a history of violence was assigned to a
room by himself with an off-duty fireman that was hired to teach
him. The boy beat the fireman to a pulp and I don't have to tell
you that this was an adult.

We have had to hire a permanent substitute for another student
on an every-day basis. This additional cost is about $50 a day just
to isolate the student from his classmates and regular teachers so
he won't physically assault them, as he has on many past occa-
sions.

Another profoundly retarded hoy has an inoperable tumor, liter-
ally crowdiAg out his brain. We placed him in a private school. The
first day, he ripped the toilet seat off and wrapped it around the
director's head. They refused to accept him anymofe, and so at this
point, we can't find a public, private, or State institution that will
accept the boy. So we have no alternative but to assign him to one of
our classrooms.

Nov don't think for a minute that some o: the students don't
understand the situation well enough to take advantage of it. I
think this is a point that we need to remember. A teacher was told
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by one student, "I am covered by special ed and you can't do a
thing to me."

It also should be pointed out, however, that the special education
student is also at a disadvantage. Take an assault of another stu-
dent, for example, a nonhandicapped student. It would immediately
go to a third party hearing in our district to determine the guilt
or innocence, but in the case of the handicapped student, the ARD
committee must decide if the child's action relates to his or her
handicapping conditions.

There is no opportunity for the child's innocence or guilt to be
determined. It is just assumed that the handicapped child is guilty.
But adding to the overall dilemma is the lack of specificity in defin-
ing the meaning of various handicapping conditions. A good exam-
ple is the term "learning disabled". Approximately 75 percent of
all special education students in Texas are either classified as
"learning disabled" or "speech-handicapped".

This high percentage, no doubt, is a result of the very broad defi-
nition that is given for learning disabilities. This encourages the
identification of students as learning disabled who perhaps do not
really belong in special education in the first place. This prolifera-
tion of students diagnosed as learning disabled has the effect of re-
ducing the amount of expenditures for more severely handicapped
conditions and needs.

One elementary school I lux w of in Texas has 21 resource room
teachers for learning disabled students, simply to demonstrate she
disproportionate identification.

Let's talk about attorney fees for a minute. Awarding a winning
plaintiff's attorney's fees use era in a whole host of problems and
problem areas. First of all, this would encourage lawsuits in this
area with a predictable increase in cases.

The astounding rise in civil rights suits in the last few years is
an excellent predictor in this regard. One of the most unfortunate
aspects is e fact that 0I106 the attorneys are involved, mediation
becomes more difficult. When both sides bring in attorneys; an
automatic adversarial relationship immediately is birthed.

Also, when attorneys are aware that fees are available, they are
just not as interested in resolving the problem. In fact, they are
much more likely to craw out the process, rather than make any
valin attempt to seek a speedy solution. The bottom line is that this
delay is detrimental to the child, since it is critical for appropriate
placement to be made as soon as possible.

Still another angle is the fact that legal expenses mount up
quickly, and a small school district, in particular, having to pay
large attorney fees for the plaintiff, besides the defense counsel can
very well result in having to take needed and basic educational
services away from other students.

If attorney fees are permitted, however, a cap is definitely
needed. Any reasonable fee must be defined and in all fairness, if
litigation expenses are to be awarded to the prevailing plaintiff,
they also should be awarded tc the school district should it prevail.
While some would claim that this would have a chilling effect on
parents pursuing justice for their children, it would undoubtedly
have the effect of parents makirg every effort to solve the problem
and reconcile the differences before going to court.

46-120 0 - 85 - 2
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An extremely important point that I would like to mako is that
mediation should be built into the process with the requirement
that parents or guardians be required to go through every step
before seeking the court route. In other words, it should be shown
that everything possible has been done in good faith to resolve the
complaint.

I would like to mention the pi. of administrative overload
which we are experiencing with the multiple problem-solving proc-
ess for parental concerns at the present time. Parents have four re-
courses outside the school district: One is an independent hearing
officer that is appointed by the State and by the school district;
second is a complaint resolution section of the State education
agency; third is the Civil Rights Office; and fourth is the Federal
courts.

The problem is that a parent can take all four courses simulta-
neously without the agency involved being aware of the multiple
action being taken. This causes confusion and forces the school dis-
trict to provide the same information over and over again to four
different sources.

There is also the problem of abuse of the process since a parent
can appeal over and over again with the exception to the Federal
court. What is needed is a mandatory information-sharing process
limiting appeals to one agency at a time.

In summary, I would like to mention the main point that I have
spoken to this afternoon. First is that litigation m special educa-
tion comes primarily in three areas: One, the placement of stu-
dents; two, related services; and, three, in discipline areas.

The underlying causes in these cases may be capsulized in three
realms. First, placement should not be open to litigation if appro-
priate placement is provided by the local school district; second,
where does education stop and health care begin; and, third, where
do the special education student's rights end in discipline cases and
rights of school personnel and other students to function in a vio-
lent-free environment begin?

Awarding plaintiffs attorney's fees bring forth a host of
problems and I wo d like to mention four specifically. Special edu-
cation-related lawsuits would be encouraged. It is projected there
would be more lawsuits in this area in litigation in the rest of this
decade than any other single urea. Attorneys spark an immediate
adversarial relationship and make mediation more difficult.

Third, that providing fees would encourage attorneys to extend
the process, rather than resolve the issue, thereby delaying appro-
priate educational placement of the child.

Having to pay exhorbitant legal expenses prohibits the school
district from providing the very beet educational opportunity for
other students.

Despite these considerations, if attorney's fees are provided, a
cup should be required and reasonable fees clarified. Also, attorney
fees should be available to school districts if the school district is
the prevailing party.

Mediation is a must be built into the process with the parent,
guardian, and the school district required to seek resolution of the
problem step by step at every level before taking the legal path.
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I commend the committee in the direction they are taking in
H.R. 1523. I think it is a direction that we should be going in and I
hope that we zan add to the solution to the problem.

Thank you, sir.
[Prepared statement of Linus Wright follows:]

PRaPARZD STATIOMIENT or LINOS WRIGHT, GINIRAL SUPERLNIZNDKNT, DALLAS
INDEPINDINT SCHOOL DISTRICT

My name is Linus Wright, and I am superintendent of the Dallas Independent
School District. I am also speaking on behalf of the American Association of School
Administrators whose membership numbers .',out 18,000 administrators of public
school districts throughout the United States. I welcome this opportunity to appear
before you today and to present my views and those of my colleagues in regard to
the Handicapped Children's Protection Act of 1985.

I want to make it very clear from the very beginning that there is absolutely no
desire to sidestep our obligation to provide appropriate and educationally sound
learning opportunities for handicapped students. In fact, the Dallas Independent
School District has been one of the leaders in providing excellent services for special
education students throughout the years.

There are some real challenges in this regard, however, that could be alleviated
by minor changes in the law. I believe that the draft bill is moving in the right
direction, but I would like to recommend some modifications. Thee* I will attempt
to point out to you as succinctly as possible this afternoon.

The point is frequently made that only 10 percent of U.S. school districts are in
volved in litigation involving special education students. That doesn't sound like a
lot. However, when you consider that only 11 percent of the Nation's school districts
serve 65 percent of public school students, that figure becomes less dramatic. Then,
add to that the fact that that 11 percent doubtless enrolls the vast majority of spe-
cial education students in the entire Nation.

Parents with profoundly handicapped children frequently move to Dallas for one
main reasonto get their children enrolled in the Dallas schools. Our programs
have an excellent reputation, so, in addition to the large number of handicapped
students we would normally get because of our size, we a'so have a great many who
come here specifically for these classes. Also, consider that 55 percent of all special
education students in Texas are enrolled in only the eight largest school districts.

A major concern, particularly for big city school districts, is the fact that there is
no direrentiation for different handicapping conditions in the funding formula at
the State and National levels. In other words, a school district receives exactly the
same dollar allotment to provide for a child who stutters as one who requires cath-
erization, tube feeding, diaper changing and what have you. When you consider that
more thatn 65 percent of the severely and profoundly handicapped youth are en-
rolled in urban school districts, you can readily see the problem we face.

Cbviouly we and other urban school districts have a km stake in any legislation
pertaining to special education.

Most of litigation regard to special .education is in three main areas: placement of
students, related services and discipline. The question that I ask ;nu to consider is
"What are the underlying causes of this litigation?" We need to look at three main
questions in this regard.

1. First, why should a parent of a special education student have the right to
demand that a public school district pay for placement in an expensive private insti-
tution when the service is offered in the public school, expecially since other parents
do not have that same right? What I am saying here is the., if appropriate place-
ment is provided in the public school, placement should not be open to litigation.
Some parents request residential and private school placement for their children at
public expense because they want "the best care for their child." Often, however,
they do not recognize that the provision of "appropriate" not "best" is the responsi-
bility of the schools under the 1.1w.

In addition, the obligation to provide residential opportunities when appropriate
raises a significant constitutional protection concern. :Special education 'must be pro-
vided for students 8-21 years of age. At the present time, a child study team, com-
posed of parents, assessment specialists, teachers and school administrators, can
place a child in a facility away from home at public expense for the span of those
years without c.ny further procedural review. If you think about it, that really falls
in the range of incredible. I would contend that placement in an institution away
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from home is a significant deprivation of liberty that should be reviewed by a court
of competent jurisdiction ,f the placement exceeds one year.

2. Secondly, where does education stop and health care begin? There has been a
fusion of educational and health needs with no clear line of demarcation determin-
ing which service prevails. Oxygen therapy, catheterization, respiratory and suction
devices, physical therapy, evoked response audiometry are just some of the services
educators are called on daily to provide. One 1)181) student is brought in each morn-
ing on a stretcher and lies comatose throughout the instructional day.

Another student had the following problems: central nervous system disorder
with seizures; multiple medications and irrigating solution required with seven com-
plex steps required; asthma and associated respiratory problems; totally dependent
in all self-care areas, non-ambulatory, no purposeful movements, pampers; and, nu-
trients fed directly into tube placed through abdominal and intestinal wall via
fillies, 24-hour infusion drip. Feedings required 13 complicated steps.

A.nong the feeding problems mentioned was. "in case the tube comes out, stop the
feedings, cover the opening on her stomach and all her mother."

3. My third question is: "Where do ..he special education student's rights end in
discipline cases and the rights of school personnel and other students to function in
a violent-free, educationally-conducive environment begin?"

The Office of Civil Rights ruling on discipline is a response to section 604 of the
Vocational Rehabilitation Act of 1973. Any change of placement automatically trig-
gers the admissions, review and dismissal or ARD process, hcaringe and due process
procedures. Any time a special ed student is suspended from ciao for more than
three days, an alternate educational plan must be provided. This .nvolves holding
an ARD committee meeting which must recommend the alternative plan. Normally
such a committee would consist of teachers, the principal or his or her representa-
tive, an educational diagnostician, the nurse, the student's counselor and a psycholo-
gist. The parents or guardians are also invited to attend this ni

Just to give you some idea of the complexities involved in education disci-
pline cases, let me give you a few examples.

A retarded student with a history of violence was assigned to a room by himself
with an off-duty fireman hired to tench him. The boy beat the fireman to pulp.
And you know what superior physical condition a fireman must be in.

We haw had to hire a permanent substitute for another student every day. That's
$52 a day we're spending above the usual amount to isolate this student from his
classmates and regular teacher so he won't physically assault them as he has on
sev?ral past occasions.

Another profoundly retarded boy has an inoperable tumor literally crowding out

off and wrapped it around the dir-ctor's head. He has literally the sheet -
rock

brain. We placed him in a privste school. The first day, ri, he ped the toilet seat

rock throughout the school by kicking it in. It's little wonder that the school's board
of directors will no longer accept himat any price. We have exhausted every poura-
ble State and community resource. Our only choice now is to assign him to a DIED
classroom.

And ,ion't think for a minute that some of the students don't understand the situ-
ation well enough to take advantage of it. A teacher was told by one student. "I'm
covered by special ed, and you can't do a thing to me."

It also should be pointed out, however, that the special education student is also
at a disadvantage. Take assault of another student, for example. A non-handicapped
student would immediately go to a third party hearing to determine his or her guilt
or innocence. In the case of the handicapped student, though, the ARD committee
must decide if the child's Action relates to his or her handicapping condition. There
is no opportunity for the child's innocence or guilt to be determined. It is just as-
sumed that he or she is guilty.

Adding to the overall dilemma is the lack of specificity in defining the meaning of
various handicapping conditions. A good example is the term "learning disabled."
Approximately 75 percent of all special education students in Texas public schools
are either classified as learning disabled or speech handicapped. This high percent-
age, no doubt, is a result of the very broad definition that is given for learning dis-
abilities. This encourages the identification of students as learning disabled who
perhaps do not really belong in special education in the first place. This prolifera-
tion of students diagnosed as learning disabled has the effect of reducing the
amount of expenditures for more severe handicapping conditions and needs. One el-
ementary school I know of, for example, has 21 resource room teachers for learning
disabled students.

But let's talk about attorney fees for a few minutes. Awarding winning plaintiffs
attorneys' fees ushers in a whole host of problems and problem areas.
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First of all, this would encourage law suits in this area with a predictable in-
crew* in cases. The astounding rise in civil rights suits in the last iew years is an
excellent predictor in this regard.

One of the most unfortunate aspects is the fact that, once attorneys are involved,
mediation becomes more difficult. When both sides bring in attorneys, an automatic
adversarial relationship immediately is birthed.

Also, when attorneys are aware that fees are available, they are just not as inter-
ested in resolving the problem. In fact, they're much more likely to draw out the
process rather than make any valid attempt to seek a speedy solution. The bottom
line is that this delay is detrimental to the child, since it is critical for appropriate
placement to be made as soon as possible.

Still another angle is the fact that legal expenses mouLt up quickly. In a small
scbr-11 district, in particular, having to pay large attorney fees for the plaintiff be-
sides its own defense counsel can very well result in having to take needed and
basic educational services away from other students.

If attorney fees are to be permitted, however, a cap is definitely needed, and ne-
gotiable fees must be defined. And in all fairness, if litigation expenses are to be
awarded to the prevailing plaintiff, they also should be awarded to the school dis-
trict, should it prevail. While some would claim this would have a chilling effect on
parents pursuing justice for their children, it would undoubtedly have the effect of
parents making every effort to solve the problem and reconcile the differences
before going to court.

An extremely important point I would like to make is that mediation should be
built into the process with the requiremant that parents or guardiar 'Ne requited to
go through every step before seeking the court route. In other woi it should be
s'iown that everything possible has been done in good faith to reed he complaint.

I would like to men nn a problem of administrative overload w/ a we are expe-
riencing with the multi-problem solving process for parental conc.r a at the present
time. Parents have four recourses outside the school district: an independent hear-
ing officer, the complaint !I:solution section of the State education agency, the Office
of Civil Rights under section 104 of the Voctu.onal Rehabilitation Act of 1978 and
the Federal court. The problem is that a parent can take all four courses simulta-
neously without the agencies involved being aware of the multi-action being taken.
This causes confusion and forces the school district to provide the same information
over and over. There is also the problem of abuse of the process, since a parent can
appeal again and againwith the exception of the Federal court. What is needed is
a mandatory information sharing process limiting appeals to one ageucy at a time.

In summary, I would like to mention the main points I have spoken to this after-
noon.

SUMMARY

Most litigation in regard to special education is in three main areas: placement of
students, related services, and discipline.

The underlying causes in these cases may be capsulized in these three realms:
1. Placement should not be open to litigation.
2. Where does education stop and health care begin?
3. Where do the special education student's rights end in discipline cases and the

rights of school personnel and other students to function in a violent-free environ-
ment

Aw winning plentiffs attorneys' fees brings forth a host of problems.
1. Spec' education-related law suits would be encouraged.
2. Attorneys spark an immediate adversarial relationship and make mediation

more difficult.
3. Providing fees would encourage attorneys to extend the process rather than re-

solve the issue, thereby delaying appropriate educational placement of the child.
4. Having to pay esorLitant legal expenses prohibits a school district from provid-

ing the very best educational opportunity for all students.
If, despite these considerations, attorney fees are permitted, a cap should be re-

quired and reasonable fees clearly defined. Also, attorney fees should be available to
the school district if it is the prevailing party.

Mediation needs to be built into the process with the parent or guardian required
to seek resolutic i of the problem step-by-step at every level before taking the legal
path.

Thank you for allowing me to appear before you this elernoon and for your
thoughtful consideration of these points.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Wright.
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Again, because of your time constraints, I will ask the other
members of the committee if they have qu^ Aims of you now before
we proceed to the other members of the panel.

Mr. Bartlett.
Mr. BARTLETT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me ask Mr. Wright, I very much appreciaie our 4estir-my

and really you are helping bring a dose of the real world to the
Halls of Congress where sometimes we don't perceive as accurately
as we ought to the result of some of the laws that we pass.

I have some specific questions for you as to how things both work
today and would work, ih your opinion, under this bill. First of all,
in the broad range of prevailing parties, as 3 ou know, this bill, as
does most Federal law, would say--at least this rola is limited to
only if the prevailing party is the parentbu. .refine "pre-
vailaig" party under the current Federal Court ,rpretation, that
only the prevailing party would be allowed the reimbursement of
fee3.

I suppose my question is, has it been your experience that, in
layman's terms, that you really have to prevail? You and I had dis-
cussed in the past that sometimes that school board appearing to
prevril and yet having to pay the attorney's fees anyway. Do you
have any way of characterizing that for us or describing in what
situations your school district has prevailed on the substance of the
lawsuit and still had to pay both sides' legal fees?

Mr. Watoirr. I can only speak from experience, Congressman
Bartlett. In areas of special education and Federal Courts, as well
as desegregation, each time the district has prevailed, they have
still ended up paying the legal services for the plaintiff. So it is
pretty difficult, and in many cases, Federal judges will try to medi-
ate a case themselves and, even though it be ruled in favor
of the district, the plaintiff's attorney's fees E tin paid.

It is hard to understand, from a layman, what "prevailing"
means because we have always paid the plaintiff's fees, even den
it was ruled that the district prevailed.

Mr. BARTLETT. The school district might be able to give some
help to this committee in terms of trying to provide some precise
remedy to that, at least in the area of 94-142, to where J think it is
the intent of this committee, and my intent, that if a parent pre-
vails on the case, well, then, the school board or the State, depend-
ing on who was the party most responsible, would pay the attor-
ney's fees, but we might want to tighten up how to define "prevail-
ing" party.

I need to ask you also on what you described as the reasonable
fees. What has been your experience as far as paying attorneys
their reasonable fees? Has it been in the market that has generally
prevailed?

We had one suggestion at one time that we limit reasonable fees
or fees to $75 an hour as a matter of Federal law to try to get at
that. Have you generally found fees to be the fees charged m the
marketplace, or what is your experience?

Mr. WRIGHT. It is hard to determine what the marketplace is,
and what area of law, and what caliber of lawyer, and what the
marketplace is for lawyers. I know fees in Dallas run from $50 to
$200 an hour and I don't want to degrade a profession, but I have

22



19

had instances where judges have awarded $50 an hour and I have
had other instances in the same situation where they awarded $200
an hour. So, again, I would like to see the Congress, in its wisdom,
establish some reasonable market fee and $75 a hour for this type
of litigation certainly seems reasonable. It seems to be a balance,
and I keep hearing us talking about balance and it is w:aat we are
trying to do, reach a compromise that both parties can agree on.

Mr. Baamarr. If we can't do that--and maybe we still canbut
if we can't do that, perhaps the Congress could help to define what
our intent is as far as perhaps requiring that the attorney prove up
what his rate is in a case such as that. I don't believeat least in
my experience, and I think in yoursthat is not the case as far as
having to prove it or is it?

Mr. Wamwr. It is just that the judge has arbitrarily established
it in many cases without having to prove it up.

Mr. BARTLIVIT. What is your totalwhat is Dallas Independent
School District's total legal bill for both your attorneys and the at-
torneys of plaintiffs?

Mr. WRIGHT. For the last 5 years, it has run from $500,000 to
$800,000 a year.

Mr. BARTLIVIT. To as much as $800,000 a year?
Mr. WRIGHT. As much as 4,800,000 a year.
Mr. Baassirr. How many teachers could you hire for that?
Mr. WRIGHT. I could hire 30 more teachers a year with that.
Mr. Bwassirr. On the mediation component, one of the things

that we are discussing is to essentially give a parent the required
right of mediation prior to the due process. Would you welcome
that kind of a right, where a parent couldperhaps even extend it
to both sidesbut bui:d indo you find that mediation helps the
process or hurts the process if you have a medi ition prior to the
due process?

Mr. WRIGHT. I think it helps the process and we have under-
standing in Dallas with the Office of Civil Rights that we will try
to mediate every complaint that is made. Previously, whenever a
complaint was made, the Office of Civil Rights would conduct an
investigation and let us know 1 year later, after a lot of cost and
expense, what their decisions are, but we worked out a gentleman's
agreement that we would try to mediate all of the complaints in
special education and civil rights, and for the last 2 years, we have
mediated ever/ single crunplaint to the satisfaction of both parties.

Mr. Barcrurrr. For that last 2 years since you began mediation,
you mediated every single complaint?

Mr. WRIGHT. Hasn't been a single complaint that had to go back
to a full investigation or to a lawsuit.

Mr. BAWI'LIVIT. To the satisfaction of the parents
Mr. WRIGHT. To the satisfaction of the parent and the school dis-

trict.
Mr. Bkassirr. One last question: I wonder if you could elaborate

the impact of not being able to have a standard disciplinary process
for handicapped students. Could you elaborate on the impact that
has on the handicapped students themselves? It is obvious the in-
convenience and such to the school district, but do you find a nega-
tive or positive impact on the hr. dicapped students who are denied
the discipline?
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Mr. WRIGHT. It is negative, both to the student and the parent
and the teacher because both sides are frustrated. First, the stu-
dent never has the knowledge or the parent of the student, the
rightness or wrongness of the act and you never deal with the
modification of the behavior for the benefit of the child. You
simply deal with whether it is affected by the condition that the
child has.

On the teacher's side, it frustrates the teacher in that they know
th- t the child realizes in many instances that they haven't been
disciplined, that nothing is going to happen, so a teacher continues
to work in that world of frustration saying, "Well, what is the use?
There is not anything that I can do to correct the situation," so it
is bad for both sides.

Mr. BARTIZIT. When you speak of handicapped students, what
can you give us the range or what level of handicap is the biggest
problem with regard to inability' to impose discipline?

Mr. Watawr. Well
Mr. %Imam. Mr. Wright, I would encourage you to give a brief

answer to this last question. Mr. Bartlett's time has expired.
Mr. WRIGHT. Yes, sir.
Primary a those that are identified as learning disabilities and

speech handicap and 75 percent of the students are in that area,
and certainly with the mental facilities to know the difference in
right and wrong.

Mr. BARTIZIT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Goodling.
Mr. GOODLING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Wright, usually when we make decisions, we make the best

decisions if we use the heart and the head both. I am a late signer
to thisI would probably confess it may have been more heart
than headwith the understanding that, as a matter of a fact, it is
a darned sight better than what the Senate has to offer at the
present time, and that we would work toward trying to improve
what is now before us.

I have two major concerns, I guess. We have a responsibilityit
seems to me our major responsibility in relatioaship to education
from the Federal Government is equal access, access for students
for a good education, no matter who they are, where they live,
what their income is. That brings me to part of my problem with
this.

I can't think of any legislation that we have passed where a par-
ent's income isn't somehow involved in what participation the Fed-
eral Government plays. Here it would appear to me that whether
your income is $50,000, $75,000, or $100,000 or whether it is a pov-
erty-level income, you would have an equal opportunity to receive
this reimbursement and I have some real concern with that. I
think we surely have a responsibility for those that we do when we
talk about free and reduced-price lunches; when we talk about
guaranteed loans and things of that nature. But I have some real
problems at the present time and I was just thinking that as I was
listening to you with the thought that everyone should have equal
opportunity no matter what their income may be to get this kind of
reimbursement.
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When you talked about limiting fees, would it be better to limit
ato say a percentage or to set a maximum or exactly how would
you do that?

Mr. WRIGHT. It is not going to be easy to do either one, to set a
market fee of what is in the community. Legal fees are higher in
my sister city of Houston here than they are in Dallas. I have been
told that they are.

Also, it is hard to set a maximum because you don't know the
severity of the case. So it is not going to be easy to do, but I do
think that there should be something in the bill that would encour-
age ro isonableness on the part that it is in the best interest of the
student and not drag a case out, as I was inferring that sometimes
attorneys have a tendency to do.

So I think on past experience of particular cases, you might be
able to draw some conclusion as to how many days trial time, prep-
aration time, might be a reasonable amount for a certain kind of
case, as well as an hourly rate. I think both of those might be nego-
tiated and you might have a little difficulty with the legal society
in doing that, but I think in the best interests of parents and stu-
dents, it could be done and should be considered.

Mr. GOODLING. I guess the only other concern I have is that I
want to make sure that we don't do any uhing that would not en-
courage parents and school districts to work together and talk to-
gether in the best interest of the child. I don't want to do anything
that would start you out on an adversarial relationship before you
ever even have an opportunity to see if you can't work something
out.

Mr. WRIGHT. That is why I think that the mediation is so impor-
tant because when you go through the mediation process, it is
going to become obvious whether you can reach a consensus or not
and then I think it gives the parent clear direction of whether they
want to pursue the legal route. That is why then, after you have
gone through that, should the parent be wrongand most times
they are rightthen I think the district needs some protection as
well. That is why I said the district should be considered if they are
prevailing party because sometimes attorneys will encourage their
client to go on regardless. Under the circumstances, they some-
times do that. We are only interested as an association and as the
superintendent of Dallas in doing what is best for the child and we
also have to think about the school district and the people paying
the bill as well.

I don't want to do anythingneither does the associationto
hinder a parent from following procedural due process and every
opportunity that is open to them.

Mr. GOODLING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WILLIAMS. The gentleman from California, Mr. Martinez.
Mr. WaCTINEZ. I have no questions, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Wright, you mentioned legal fees in your re-

sponse to a question by Mr. Bartlett, legal fees from your district
being between half a million and $800,000 a year?

Mr. WRIGHT. Yes, sir.
Mr. WILLIAMS. The last school year, in the entire State of Texas,

not just your district, there were 12 of these matters brought to
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first-level mediation. None reached litigation. What was the reason
for that half-a-million-dollar expenditure in your district?

Mr. WIUGHT. It is the area of terminations, first amendment
rights and terminations, desegregation law primarily.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Do you know what the costs were of the media-
tion or litigation of this matter?

Mr. WitiGHT. In special education? We haven't had any in the
last 2 years. I just responded that we have been able to mediate
every issue through the Office of Civil Rights andlet me correct.
We did settle out of court for one $5,000 claim for a special educa-
tion child in a search situation.

Mr. WILLIAMS. You mentioned that despite the fact that the dis-
tricts had prevailed, they nonetheless had to pay fees. Did the
courts find that the district had prevailed or was the decision fuzzy
enough that it is your interpretation that the district prevailed?

Mr. WIUGHT. In the case of the search, the district did prevail,
but we ended up settling just to keep from going ahead and trying.

Mr. WILLIAMS. The court did not mandate that the fees were
yours? The court in that instance?

Mr. WRIGHT. Mandated that we negotiate a settlement.
Mr. Wuxi Am. You mentioned in your testimony that placement

decisions should not be open to litigation, and yet it seems to me
that the appropriateness of a particular placement proposed by a
school district really goes to the heart of Public Law 94-142 with
regard to protection of the parents.

Now, if the parents can't challenge a particular placement, what
good is the act?

Mr. WRIGHT. I am talking about appropriate placement versus
best.

Mr. WILI1AMS. Well, if they can't challenge what you believe is
appropriate placement and they believe is inappropriate place-
ment, where is the act? What protection do they have t...,der this
law? Are you going to determine what is appropriate placement
and parents not be able to question that?

Mr. WRIGHT. There is a committee made up of parents, teachers,
psychologists, diagnosticians, and administrators who determine
what is appropriate placement and once that is agreed upon, then
to challenge itand then it is determined by the courts that it is
appropriatethen I think we have wasted a lot of time and ex-
pense because we often get into what a parent wants and what the
professionals have agreed is appropriate, and I think there is
where the difference is.

Yes, a parent should have the right to pursue it even beyond a
committee, but all I am saying is if you have a group of profession-
als that have agreed that that is appropriate placement and then
they go on with litigation and it is still upheld by the courts that it
is appropriate, then I think the school district should be entitled to
the expenses for that litigation.

Mr. WILLIAMS. You mention in your testimony, quoting now:
"Once attorneys are involved, mediation becomes more difficult
and in fact, they are much more likely," you say, "to draw out the
process rather than make any valid attempt toward a speedy solu-
tion."
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How does it benet parents to ever permit or encourage their at-
torneys to delay resolution of a complaint?

Mr. WRIGHT. It doesn't benefit the parents or the child. That is
the point. I am saying. that sometime attorneys advise their clients
to draw it out, take it to court, and all it is doing is hurting and
delaying the placement of the child, when possibly the school dis-
trict could mediate the problem with the parent.

Once an attorney AS brought in, and particularly if both attor-
neys get involved, it really becomes ar. adversarial relationship.

Mr. Witumas. It seems to me, if I may say, Mr. Wright, that we
are really on the margin of. questioning attorneys' ethics nere and I
guess one can do that privately, 'out I don't know that we ought to
bring the heavy hand of the law down based on our ow i personal
judgments of unethical attorneys.

Mr, WRIGHT. I wouldn't want to no that for the world. I am sit-
ting next to one here that I think a great deal of. hut

Mr. WILLIAMS. Well, we appreciate having your testimony and
you will notice we have had you out of here in time to catch your
plane. We appreciate your counsel and you being here today.

Mr. WRIGHT. Thank you, sir. I appreciate the opportunity to be
here.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Ms. Arnold, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF JEAN L:NOLD, ATTORNEY, BLACKSBURG, VA,
REPRESENTING THE NATIONAL SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION

Ms. ARNOLD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the
immittee.
My name is Jean Arnold, and as Mr. Wright ins ated, I am an

attorney from Blacksburg, VA. I am present today as a representa-
tive of the National School Boards Association and the National
Council of School Attorneys.

We thank you for the opportunity to comment on this legislation
and to work so closely with the committee staff on the bill. The
staff, in our opinion, has done an excellent job on this very impor-
tant piece of hegislation. This is a particularly A . -artant subject for
me, as I have specialized in the area of education for the handi-
capped law for the past 8 years.

I was formerly employed by the law firm of Brycewell & Patter-
son in Houston, TX, where I worked with school districts in ensur-
ing compliance with the Federal statutes governing the education
of handicapped children. I served for 2 years as chairman of the
board of directors of Advocacy, Inc., the protection and advocacy
system for the State of Texas.

I have also represented parents in due process hearings; I have
served as an impartial due process hearing officer in Texas as a
time when five hearing officers served the entire State; I have
since traveled to a number of States to conduct hearing officer
training sessions; I now teach a graduate course for Virginia Poly-
technic Institute & State Universit-r, as does my fellow panelist,
Mr. Weintraub, entitled "Legal Aspects of Educating Handicapped
Children." I currently represent a number of school distil-us in ape-

al education matters, and I am the daughter of a handicapped in-
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dividual. My mother lost her vision entirely when I was 4 years
old.

You have our written testimony. We would like to request that
that be put in the record.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Without objection. All written testimony will be
included as part of the record.

Ms. AluicLo. Thank you.
I will address the major concerns of the National School Boards

Association by referring to the nine-point statement of specifica-
tions which represent the intent of this committee that was given
to us. We will comment on each of the nine quickly.

Our primary concerns revolve around items No. 1 dnd No. 6,
which deal with sections 2(b) and 3(a) of the proposed legislation.

First, on point No. 1, we support your intent to award attorneys
fees incurred during the judicial proceedings in these actions and
not those incurred eluting the administrative process. However, the
lan of the bill does not do this

ou ..ve made it clear that only a judge, as opposed to a hear-
ing officer, can award the fees, however, the limitation on the fees
to be awarded is not in the bill. You say in your specs that the fees
are fcr litigation only, but the bill does not contain that limitation.
This specific 12mitation language needs to be in the bill itself.

Our second major concern is with item 6. Your specifications pro-
vide that parents exhaust administrative remedies and not skip
them in favor of some other statute, but the statutory language as
drafted es allow parents to bypass the 94-142 process, which
as you know, specifically designed as the mechanism for assuring
the provision of a free appropriate public education for hanch-
ca children.

When a child has special education needs, he or she is entitled to
an individualized educational program and a large number of other
prceolural safeguards under 94-142. In our written testimony on
page d, we list some of these procedures and that list is not compre-
hensive.

NSBA believes in these procedures and we also believe that par-
ents and school districts must be required to follow them.

The relationship of parents and school districts was stressed in
the legislative history of Public Law 94-112 when Senator Jennings
Randolph spoke, calking the cooperative effort between parents and
schools the most important part of the act. It has recently been
stressed by the U.S. Supreme Court in the case of Rowley v. Ken-
drick Hudson Central School District, where they talk about the
importance of parental involvement in the process.

We, as school systems, do not want to be precluded from the op-
portunity of receiving information about a handicapped child from
the parents who have information that we cannot receive from
anywhere else. We don't want the parents to bypass the Public
Law 94-142 process by jumping into the filing of a Federal com-
plaint with, for ine;tuice, the Office of Civil Rights.

I want to stress that if the right to file a complaint witii the Fed-
eral Government is essential to assuring a handicapped child's
right to an education, then we don't want to see that right taken
away. We just want to assure that the pracess already set up under
94-142 is utilized.
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Skipping down to point No. 9, regarding informal meetings with
parents, we understand the frustrations that have been expressed
to the committee regarding the procedures under 94-142 and the
apparent effort to delegalize the process, but we feel that this sec-
tion is redundant with the procedures already existing under 94-
142. In order to make the administrative proceedings even more
workable, we would rather see some alternative language used in
that section, and we would be glad to work with you on that.

Going back to point No. 2, the National School Boards Associa-
tion has no problem with that point.

Point No. 3, concerning delaying the procedures, we think that iP
a very good idea and we would support that.

Point No. 4, regarding the definition of fees and other expenses,
in this regard, we would prefer to see the committee adopt similar
language to that used in other pieces of civil rights legislation, for
instance, section 1988, simple language that says the court, in its
discretion, may allow the prevailing party a reasonable attorney's
fee as part of the costs.

On point No. 5, we have no problem.
Point No. 6, I hpve already discussed.
On point No. 7, we could not understand why the entire law was

not made retroactive. Additionally, we felt that there should be
some cutoff date to how far back a party could g.'. For instance,
could a case that was resolved in 1979 and attorney's fees denied
by the court, could that case be reopened on the question of attor-
ney's fees?

Finally, on point No 8, we are in support of that provision re-
garding disclosure of hearing results.

We thank you for the opportunity to comment on this legislation
and we would be glad to respond to any questions you might have.

[Prepared statement of Jean Arnold follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JEAN BILOIR ARNOLD, BOARD OF DIREcroits, NATIONAL
COUNCIL OF SCHOOL ATTORNEYS, ALEXANDRIA, VA, ON BEHALF OF THE NATIONAL
SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION AND NSBA COUNCIL OF SCHOOL ATTORNEYS

PREFACE

My name is Jean Bilger Arnold and I am a member of the Board of Directors of
the NSBA Council of School Attorneys. Under the aegis of the National School
Boards Association, the Council of School Attorneys was organized in 1969 to pro-
vide a national forum on the -diced legal problems faced by local public school
districts and the attorneys a -Irve them. The Council has more than 1900 mem-
bers, with representatives from e!Plost every state and the District of Columbia.

The National School' Boards Association is in its 44th year of service, its member-
ship including the 50 state school boards associations, the na ion's local school
boards, and the Council of Urban Boards of Education and the Council of School
Attorneys.

I. INTRODUCTION

ThP NSBA Council of School Attorneys and the National School Boards Aseocia-
' honored to present their views on the proposed handicapped Children's Pro-
.. -on Act before this subcommittee.

Ve reaffirm out support of the Educational for All Handicapped Children Act
EHA) which has enabled our public schools to provide an appropriate education

to handicapped school children. In enacting this statute to protect the right of
handicapped students to public educational services, Congress properly recognized
that the states could not bear the entire financial cost of such an undertalulig.
Thus, under the EHA states may qualify to receive federal funds for the education
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of the handicapped if they comply with the conditions set forth in the law. One of
the most crucial of these conditions requires a recipient of funds under the A to
establish a process to develop individual educational plans (IEPs) for each handi-
capped child and to provide parents of a handicapped child an opportunity to chal-
lenge any plan they believe inappropriate to their child's needs.

II. THREAT TO ISP AND DUE PROCESS PROCEDURES

A. Benefits of current cooperative process
The IEP process and the due process procedures as :squired by the EHA reflect

congressional intent to provide a mechanism for early and informal resolution of
issues concerning the availability of a free appropriate public education to each
handicapped child. Congress intended the development of an IEP to be a cooperative
effort, wisely recognizing that the needs of handimped childree are beet accommo-
dated by encouraging parents, schools and other education and therapeutic profes-
sionals to work together to formulate an individualized c. plan that is appropriate to
the child's educational needs. In the event that a child's parents are not satisfied
with the school's proposed plan, they may seek to resolve their differences through
the comprehensive scheme of due pnme procedures and protections that the Act
accords them including:

The right to obtain an independent educational evaluation of their child; written
notice before any changes in the child's placement or program are implemented; the
opportunity for an impartial due process hearing by the local education agency; im-
partial review by a state education agency; and, the right to judicial review, where
necessary.
B. Availability of attorney's fees at administrative hearing level

NSBA believes that the pre-litigation procedures established by the EHA should
be allowed to remain informal and cooperative in nature so that parents and school
personnel can work toward mutually acceptable resolutions of any disagreements in
as expeditious a manner as possible. We urge you to avoid enacting any amendment
to the handicapped law which would tend to produee polarization between parties
and an adversarial approach to determining edlicati...ial issues.

the current language of the proposed amendment ;Sec. 2(B)) does not adequately
shield the MIA's informal mechanism for determining a handicapped child's educa-
tional needs from becoming an adversarial process overwhelmed by legal complica-
tions that postpone final resolution of the dispute and result in a disservice to the
handicapped child in securing an appropriate education. Whenever there is the pos-
sibility of recovering legal fees, the presence of attorneys inevitably increases. This
is why NSBA and the Council oppose legislation provide legal fees at the adminis-
trative level.

We appreciate your sensitivity to this issue. However, although the avowed pur-
pose of the provision is to make attorney's fees available only for litigation costa and
not for fees incurred in seeking administrative remedies, the currently proposed lan-
guage could be interpreted to permit a court to award attorney's fees for the legal
costs associated with administrative hearings. The ti=csimply states that the
courtcou may make an award of attorney's fees to a p

lai
party in any action

brought under the subsection providing for judicial review. This does not necessarily
restrict the award to costs attributable to court proceedings.

The language could reasonably be interpreted to indicate that, although only a
court, as opposed to a hearing officer, has authority to make awards of attorney's
fees; the award is nor limited to fees incurred for representation in court. Since the
intent of the provision is to limit a court's discretion to making awards only for liti-
gation costa, additional clarification is needed.

This is especially true when it is considered that some courts, prior to the U.S.
Supreme Court decision in Smith v. Robinson, awarded attorney's fees for work
done in connection with administrative hearings held under the MIA. See, Depart-
ment of Education v. Valenzuela, 524 F.Supp. 261 (D. Hawaii 1981); Gory B. v.
Cronin, 542 F.Supp. 102 (N.D. Al. 1982); Turillo v. Tyson, 585 F.Supp. 557 (S.R.I.
1982). While it is true that other courts have determined that attorney's fees are not
available for the costs of administrative hearings, the fact that any court decided
prior to he enactment of any attorney's fees provision under the MIA that prevail-
mg parties can recover the legal coats of administrative hearings, demonstrates the
necessity of language that unambiguously limits the recovery of fees to the costs in-
curred at the judical review stage.

The disagreement of courts over whether attorney's fees should be awarded for
costs associated with administrative hearings hinges on their differing conclusions
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as to the applicability of the Supreme Court decision in New York Gaslight Club,
Inc. v. Carey, 447 U.S. 54 (1980), to the Educatie for AU Handicapped Children Act.
In Carey the Supreme Court held that "If 706(0 and 706(k) of Title VII authorize a
federal-court action to recover an award of attorney's fees for work done by the pre-
vailing complianant in state proceedings to which the complainant was referred
pursuant to the provisions or Title VII."

Courts that have awarded attorney's fees for the costs incurred at administrative
hearings held under the Act have reasoned that since the EHA, like Title VII, re-
quires parents to first exhaust their administrative remedies before seeking judicirj
relief, then prevailing parties under the EHA are also entitled to recover legal fees
for the costs of proceedings to which they must submit under the federal statute
before going to court. It is not implausible to assume that other courts without the
benefit of congressional guidance on this issue will find the Supreme Court's reason-
ing in Carey applicable under the Handicapped Children's Protection Act. In order
to avoid any confusion on this issue, we strongly suggest that the present proposed
language be modified to reflect clearly the intent to limit a court's discretionary au-
thority to awarding fees only for the costs incurred during the litigation phase of
any dispute arising under the Education for All Handicapped Children Act.

III. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN EDUCATION FOR ALL HANDICAPPED CHILDREN ACT AND
SEC ON 404 OF THE RENABILFFATION ACT

NSBA urges the Committee to clarify the meaning of Section 3(a) of the Handi-
capped Children's Protection Act. The Act should reflect congressional intent to re-
quire that parents and guardians not bypass by means of Section 504 the adminis-
trative procedures under the ELlA when the latter statute applies. NSBA further
requests that the bill be clarified to provide that handicapped student plaintiffs may
resort to Section 504 only where the EHA does not protect the rights of and provide
remedies to the handicapped individual. If Section 604 is simply a superfluous claim
that adds nothing to a handicapped child's substantive right to a free a te
public education, then handicappped plaintiffs should be limited to relief
under the EHA. To provide otherwise would allow handicapped plaintiffs to forego
the administrative procedures in the EHA and file a complaint, either with OCR or
a court, under Section 504.

Because the EHA is also a funding statute, the presently proposed language also
permits a handicapped complainant to seek relief for grievances which are essential -
y over the appropriate educational placement of a child by requesting that
the Office of Civil Rights (OCR) of the Department of Education take action on an
alleged Section 504 violation while also petitioning the De t's Bureau of Edu-
cation (BEH) to investigate a complaint under the EHA. uch dual jurisdiction over
what is essentially one claim is inconsistent with congressional purposes in enacting
the EHA and furthermore represents poor management of Department resources in
times demanding the utmost irA fiscal responsibility. It also places an unn ry,
additional burden upon school districts that must respond to investigations by both
offices of essentially the same facts.

NSBA, of course, does not propose that OCR's jurisdiction over handicapped
claims should be totally eliminated but it should be restricted to claims that fall
outside the coverage of the ERA. As noted above, the EHA establishes comprehen-
sive measures that give full protection to the rights of handicapped children to a
free appropriate public education. If a child's parents decide to bring allegations
before a federal agency that their child has not been accorded this right by a local
or state educational institution, the proper entity to investigate such a claim is
BEH, not OCR.

This does not preclude OCR from exe jurisdiction over all crievances that
might be brought by handicapped plaintiffs mg education issues. l'here are situ-
ations in which Section 504 would apply and the EHA would not. A closer look at
Section 504 will demonstrate when this could occur.

Section 504 is designed to assure that federal funds are not used to support pro-
grams and activities which discriminate against handicapped persons. There was no
debate in the Congress on the provision and no committee reports exist to more
fully develop the intent of Congress in passing the section. However, the Depart-
ment of Education rep-lotions under Section 504 indicts that the provision is de-
signed, at least in the context of education, to fill the gap where states such as New
Mexico which until recently had refused funding under the ERA. See, 84 C.F.R.
104.36 (comment).

Section 504 is broader than the EHA in that, to fall within its bounds, a child
must have "a physical or mental impairment which substantially limits one or more

e.
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major life activities." The EHA definition, in contrast, is keyed to whether the child
is in need of special education. If, for example, the only "handicap" of a student is
being afflicted with severe facial disfigurement or a disease such as "herpes", he or
she would be "handicapped" under Section 504 but not under the EHA.

Additionally, Section 504 is broader than the EHA in that it applies to all federal
grantees, including transportation systems, hospitals, colleges, and universities, etc.,
not just elementary and secondary schools.

Section 504 is also narrower than the MIA because it prohibits discrimination,
but does not make affirmative requirement. Southeastern Community College v.
Davis, 442 U.S. 397 (1979). Questions involving the two measures merge in the pri-
mary and secondary education context only because states that receive EHA fund-
ing must create an array of services so as to provide some program from which each
handicapped child can benefit. Identifying that program is much the same as deter-
mining appropriateness. Section 504 might be a begs for a claim where a child is
completely excluded from school without opportunity for any of the administrative
protections in the EHA, but where the claim relates to the "appropriateness" of the
program or services, EHA is the sole remedy. Timms v. Metropolitan School Dis-
trict, No. 82-3084 at n. 4 (7th Cir. Nov. 18, 1983).

Under Section 504, if the district does not make such efforts on behalf of non-
handicapped students, it is irrelevant that the district never contacted the parents,
never looked at the reports of the parents' independent evaluator, never gathered
together the district's personnel to ,establish an IEP, etc. Certainly, under section
504, parents need not be consulted before a change in placement is made, although
the EHA requires not just consultation but consent.

There are also substantial differences in the due process requirements of section
504 and the EHA. Since section 504 is a nondiscrimination statute, handicapped
students are entitled only to the same due process procedures provided to non-
handicapped students, i.e., those required under Goss v. Lopez, 419 U.S. 565 (1975)
and its progeny. The same is true under the United States Constitution and, thus,
42 U.S.C. 1983. However, ERA goes farther than Section 504 and requires a full-
scale hearing before an independent hearing examiner, the right to counsel and sub-
stantive rights such as due process hearing before a change in placement is made if
the parents and district disagree as to placement.

The point is that handicapped plaintiffs who are asserting claims of a violation of
their right to a free appropriate public education are fully protected by the provi-
sions of the EHA and do not need recourse to section 504 except in those instances
where the EHA clearly does not apply.

IV. CONCLUSION

What NSBA is asking you to do in regard to the Handicapped Children's Protec-
tion Act is to clarify through modification of presently ambiguous language some of
the asserted purposes of this bill and to place appropriate limitations upon the use
of Section 504 which make good management sense while assuring handicapped
children of the rights that the EHA accords them. These changes, we believe, will
work to the benefit of both school districts and the handicapped children they serve
by ensuring that the IEP process and administrative hearing procedures remain an
informal, cooperative effort to secure educational placements and services that are
satisfactory to all.

NSBA and the NSBA Council of School Attorneys offer whatever services they
can render to this subcommittee and other members of Congress in shaping a stat-
ute that will reflect these goals.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Weintraub.

STATEMENT OF FRED WEINTRAUB, REPRESENTING THE
COUNCIL FOR ENCEPTIONAL CHILDREN

Mr. WEINTRAUB. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I
am Fred Weintraub, assistant executive director of the Council for
Exceptional Children, and on that regard, represent 50,000 persons
involved in the education of handicapped children throughout the
United L -tes and Canada. We commend the subcommittee for in-
troducing H.R. 1523 and expeditiously scheduling this hearing.
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CEC played a major role in working with Congress in the design
and passage of 94-142 and for the past decade, we have worked ac-
tively throughout the country to assist in its implementation. Last
July, we reacted, along with many others, with shock at both the
logic and implications of the Supreme Court's decision in Smith v.
Robinson. We, along with others, call upon the Congress to take
corrective action.

The bill introduced last year by this body went beyond simply
correcting Smith v. Robinson by the fact of permitting attorney's
fees to be awarded under 94-14t, instead of section 504. Because of
this new issue, we urged the Congress last year to carefully exam-
ine the issues befor_ taking action and we commend you for taking
that approach.

As part of our ongoing examination of this issue, we formed a
task force to explore in greater detail the issues rained by the
court. A copy of the report of this task force is attached to our
statement.

In designing 94-142, the Congress recognized that simply guaran-
teeing handicapped children access to an education was not suffi-
cient to meeting the children's educational needs. Thus, it chose to
guarantee a free appropriate public education.

Congress also realized that each child's special educational needs
would be different, and thus a single standard, or even multiple
standards, defining appropriate would not suffice. The Congress,
with great wisdom, established a process approach to determine
what is appropriate.

The essentials of that approach are: One, that there is a determi-
nation of what a child's special educational needs are and what
services will be provided must be made around the individual
needs of that child; two, that parents and schools have an equal in-
terest and opportunity to participate in resolving the question of
what is appropriate for the child; and, three, that when parents
and schools disagree, that there be a fair process available to re-
solve differences in the best interest of the child. It is our belief
that the process approach on the whole is effectively working.

The issue before the subcommittee today, precipitated by Smith
v. Robinson, is how to assure the existence of fair procedures to re-
solve differences in the best interests of the child when the parties
cannot agree, and I commend both the ranking and minority rank-
ing members for their comments relating to the degree in which
there is disagreement. There is very little disagreement out there,
but we must have procedures to resolve disagreement when it does
exist.

In this regard, we have identified four overriding principles: One,
that 74'ederal policy should assure that there is an effective balance
between the fights and responsibilities of parents and those of the
schools; two, that Federal and State policy, including fiscal policy,
should encourage the resolution of disagreements between parties
in the shortest period of time and in the meet cost-effective manner
for all parties concerned; three, that the rights of individual profes-
sionals must also be considered in a manner equal to the rights of
parents in the schools; and, four, that while utilization of the
courts and participation of the legal community is an essential
right possessed by all parties, policies should not encourage or
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weigh in favor of legal resources as opposed to other forms of com-
plaint resolution.

In addressing these issues, it is essential that we keep in mind
several points. First, the question is not whether parents or schools
are right, the issue is what is appropriate for the child. We must
presume that both parents and schools are equally committed to
that objective.

Second, the educational needs of handicapped children exist in
the p7,sent, and protracted disputes may often be counterproduc-
tive to the educational interests of the child.

Third, the process under 94-142 is a human interaction system
designed to make educational decisions within a legal framework.
The moat critical ingredient to effective decisionmahng is commu-
nication and trust. While legal processes are the central rights of
all parties, it should not become a substitute for more appropriate
strategies for facilitating communication and trust.

In regard to H.R. 1523, CEC takes the following view: We support
the awarding of attorney's fees under 94-142 when parents prevail
in court. In this regard, we support the view that the court should
have discretion as to whether fees should be awarded and that the
amount of the fees should be based on the nature of the issue, the
behavior of the parties and factors related to reasonable cost.

Second, we support restoring the relationship between 94-142
and section 504.

Third, we support making available alternative strategies for re-
sol ng differences between parties as long as such strategies do
not subvert tin rights of the parties involved or unduly protract ef-
fective decisionmaking

Fourth, we support requiring that hearing decisions and State
appeal decisions be made available to the public with appropriate
confidentiality protections for parents, children, and professionals.

Fifth, we support prohibiting the use of 94-142 program funds for
the payment of attorney's fees awarded under this act.

I would briefly like to address two issues that are not presently
contained within the bill. First, we believe that State. -t play a
more active and qualitative role in the process if we are going to
reduce ti.e need for litigation and encourage better decisions early
in the process. We must remember that under 94-142, States are
responsible for assuring the free appropriate public education of
handicapped children. In all States, either the State conducts the
hearing, or the hearing is conducted by the local school district
then there is an avenue for review by the State. Thus, in all cases
where the process is utilized, the decision that goes to the court is a
decision that has either been made by the State or reviewed by the
State.

If the courts overturn the decision of the State, then it is obvious
that the State was either in error on procedural or subetantiv
grounds. For this reason, we believe that if we want to reduce liti-
gation, if we want to speed up better decisions on behalf of chil-
dren, then what we want to do is encourage the State to conduct
their business in a better manner.

For this reason, what we suggest is that the committee examine
the issue of where the court overturns the decision co, the State,
that it is, in fact, the State that is held financially liable for its de-
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damns, instead of placing that financial liability on the back of the
school district.

Second, while the process system is the appropriate means for re-
solving disputes, some issues arise that can be resolved through
other avenues if the parties involved knew that they existed and if
those other avenues operated in an efficient and effective manner.

An example of this is the complaint procedure which exists
under the Education Department's General Administrative Regula-
tions, better known in Washington parlance as EDGAR. Under this
procedure, an individual or organization that believes that the re-
quirements of the law of 94-142, or any other education law, are
not being carried out can complain to the State, who is then obli-
gated to investigate and resolve the complaint.

We believe that a number of the issues that presently are tied up
in the costly and time-consuming process of the due process proce-
dures under 94-142 could be resolved by a simple complaint to the
State under the EDGAR procedures. However, why isn't this going
on? One is that the public, particularly parents, are generally un-
aware that this procedure exists. Second, the Office of Special Edu-
cation has generally not provided guidance to the States on how
this procedure should be operative. Third, the States generally do
not have this procedure effectively in operation.

We would urge the subcommittee to encourage the Department
of Education to strengthen the EDGAR procedures, to force them
also to work with States to make sure that these procedures are in
place and, in fact, the parents know they exist and know how to
use them so that some of the things that go into due process might
be more expeditiously resolved.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and we stand ready to work with the
committee.

[Prepared statement of Fred Weintraub follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE COUNCIL FOR EXCEPTIONAL CHILDREN, REPRESENTED EY
FREDERICK J. Wsprrp mod, Assurraurr Eicscurws Diaicroi, DEPARTMENT OF Gov -
ERNMENT RELATIONS, RESTON, VA

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee: I am Fred Weintraub, Assistant
Executive Director for Governmental Relations of The Council for Exceptional Chil-
dren. The Council for Exceptional Children (CEC) is the national professional orga-
nization of persons involved in and concerned about the education of handicapped
and gifted and talented children and youth. We commend the Subcommittee for in-
troducing H.R. 1523, the Handicapped Children's Protection Act of 1985, and expedi-
tiously scheduling this hearing to consider this most important legislation.

The Council for Exceptional Children played a major role in working with the
Congress in the design and palms of P.L. 94-142, The Education for All Handi-
capped Children Act of 1975. For the past decade we have actively worked through-
out the country to assist in the implementation of this most important Act. Last
July, we reacted, along with many others, with shock at both the logic and implica-
tions of the Supreme Court's decision in Smith v. Robinson which fundamentally
severed the relationshi? between P.L. 94-142 Protections and the protections under
Section 504 of the Vocational Rehabilitation A. t of 1973 and potentially other civil
rights statutes. We, along with others, called 1:?on the C.3ongress to take corrective
action. H.R. 6014 introdured by this body last year went beyond simply correcting
Smith v. Robinson by restoring the relationship between P.L. 94-142 and Section
504, but also for the first time permitting attorney's fees to be awarded under P.L.
94-142 directly. Because of this new issue, we urged the Congress to carefully exam-
ine the issues before taking action.

As a part of our ongoing examination of this issue CEC formed a Task Force on
Smith v. Robinson to explore in greater detail the issues raised by the court's deci-
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anon and to make recommendations concerning federal and state policy issues that
should be addressed. A copy of this report is attached to this statement.

During the years leading up to the passage of P.L. 94-142, the Congress thorough-
ly explored the problems associated with educating handicapped children. The Con-
gress recognized that simply guaranteeing handicapped children access to an educa-
tion was not sufficient in meeting the children's educational needs; thus it chose to
guarantee a "free appropriate education." Congress also realized that each child's
special educational needs would be different and thus a single standard or even
multiple standards defining appropriate would not suffice. The CoNgress with great
'wisdom established a process to determine what is appropriate. The essentials of
that approach are:

1. The determination of what a child's special educational needs are and what
services will be p. ovided must be made around the individual needs of that child.

2. That parents and schools have an equal interest anctamortunity to participate
in resolving the question of what is appropriate for the

3. That when parents and schools id agree there be fair procedures available to
resolve differences in the best interests of the child.

It is our belief that the process approach is on the whole working effectively. The
Rand Corporation (1982) in studying the process reported that fewer than 0.01 per-
cent of the students served under the EHA become the subject of a formal dispute.
While, as our Task Force report indicates, there are some factors that presentlycon-
strain parents and schools from the level of advocacy envisioned in the law, m the
vast majority of cases parents and schools are working together to reach mutually
agreeable determinations of "free appropriate public education."

The issue before the Subcommittee today, precipitated by Smith v. Robinson, is
how to assure the existence of fair procedures to resolve differences in the best in-
terests of the child when the parties can not agree.

In this regard our Task Force identified four overriding principals:
1. Federal policy should assure that there is an effective balance between the

rights and responsibilities of parents and those of the schools.
2. Federal and state policy, including fiscal, should encourage the resolution of

disagreements between parties in the shortest period of time and in the most cost
effective manner for all parties concerned.

3. The rights of individual professionals must also be considered in a manner
equal to the rights of parents And the schools.

4. While utilization of the courts and participation of the legal community is an
essential right possessed by all policy should not encourage or weigh in
favor of legal resources as op to other forms of dispute settlement.

In addressing these issues it is essential that we keep in mind several points.
First, the question is not whether the parents or the schools are "right." The issue
is what is appropriate for the child and we must presume that both parents and
schools are equally committed to that objective. Second, the educational needs of
handicapped children exist in the present and protracted dip may y often be
counter productive to the educational interests of the child. Third, the ess under
P.L. 94-142 is a human interaction system designed to ma ...-1-; educational decisions
within a legal framework. The most critical ingredien to effective decision making
is communication and trust. While legal prows is an essential right of all parties it
should not become a substitute for more appropriate strategies for facilitating com-
munication and trust.

More specifically, in regard to H.R. 1523 The Council for Exceptional Children:
1. Supports the awarding of attorney's fees under P.L. 94-142 when parents pre-

vail in court. In this regard, we support the view that the court should have discre-
tion as to whether fees should be awarded and that the amount of the fees should be
based on the nature of the issue, the behavior of the parties and factors related to
reasonable costs.

h. Supports restoring the relationship between P.L. 94-142 and Section 504 of the
Vocational Rehabilitation Act of 1978.

3. Supports making available alternative strategies for resolving differences be-
tween parties as long as such strategies do not subvert the rights of the parties in-
volved or unduly protract effective decision making.

4. Supports requiring that hearing decisions and state appeal decisions be made
available to the public with appropriate confidentiality protections for parents, chil-
dren, and professionals.

5. Supports prohibiting the use of P.L. 94-142 program funds for the payment of
attorneys fees awarded under this Act.

There are two other issues that we urge the subcommittee to take into consider-
ation. First, states must play a more active and qualitative role in the process if we
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are to reduce the need for litigation and encourage better decisions early in theprocess. In most states when there is a disagreement between the parties a localhearing is initiated, which either party can appeal to the state. In some states the
hearing is held by the state. Following a state hearing or appeal either party maygo to court. In all instances the state makes a determination and it is this determi-
nation that is at issue in court not that of the local school district. If courts overturnthe decision then the state was in error on either procedural or substantive grounds.
When this occurs it is because states have not appropriately trained and monitored
hearing officers or the policies and procedures of the state are not being implement-
ed consistent with the requirements of P.L. 94-142. If states were doing a better jobin this area of responsibility then better decisions would be made more expeditious-
ly, the need for litigation would be reduced, and less stress would be placed on thejudicial system and the _sties involved. It Is essential, we believe, that this Sate beaddressed. At the same time we believe the courts should assess fees against the
education agency whose decision is being reversed. For example:1. If the parents wi:. z. local hearing and the state education agency (SRA) re-
verses the decision on appeal, the SEA should be responsible for attorney fees if thecourt finds in favor of the parents.

2. If the parents win or lose a local hearing, and the SEA finds in favor of the
parents on appeal, the local education agency (LEA) should be responsible for attor-
ney fees if it appeals the decision and if the court finds in favor of the parents.

3. If the parents lose both the LEA hearing and the SEA appeal, the SEA should
be responsible for attorney fees if the court finds in favor of the parents.

Placing fiscal accountability on the responsible parties, should encourage more ap-propriate behavior on their part.
Secondly, while the process system is the appropriate means for resolving disputes

some issues arise that can be resolved through other avenues if the parties involvedknow they exist and operate in an efficient and effective manner. An example is the
complaint procedure which exists under the Education Department's General Ad-
ministrative Regulations (EDGAR). Under this procedure an individual or organisa-tion who believes that the requirements of P.L. 94-142, or any other education law,
are not being carried out can complain to the state, who is then obP'ated to investi-gate and resolve the complaint. For a number of issues the EDGE )mplaint pro-cedure could be a more effective vehicle for resolving conflict than , process pro-cedure under P.L. 94-142. For example, a parent discovers that while his or herchild's I.E.P. specifies that physical therapy will be provided the school has refusedto actually provide it. This is an obvious violation of the law. The parent has theright to complain to the state, who should be then obligated to require the wheal
district to carryout the I.E.P. and provide the physical therapy. In this example, thisis a much simpler and efficient approach for the parent. This alternative, however,
is rarely utilized for the following reasons.

The public is generally unaware that it exists because it is not found in the P.L.94-142 regulation descriptive material or training activities.
2. The Office of Special Education has generally not provided guidance to SEAS in

this regard nor emphasized it in theirmonitoring.
3. States presently generally do not have this procedure effectively operative.We urge the subcommittee to require the Department of Education to develop fur-

ther criteria for implementing the EDGAR complaint_promdures as they pertain toPart B of the EHA, provide technical assistance to S in implementing such re-quirements, monitor SEA implementation, and to require that parents and profes-
sionals be informed about the availability of this procedure and the means of utiliz-ing it.

We appreciate the opportunity to present our views to the subcommittee on thismost important issue and we stand ready to work with you in this regard.

REPORT OF THE COUNCIL FOR EXCEPTIONAL CHILDREN'S TASK FORCE ON SMITH VERSUS
ROBINSON-A REPORT TO THE CEC GOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS Commis, JANU-ARY 8,1985

CEC TASK FORCE ON SMITH VERSUS ROBINSON

Philip Jones, Chair, Professor and Coordinator, Administration of Special Educa-tion, Virginia Tech
Harold Burke, Director of Special Education, Alexandria, Virginia Public Schools.
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Margaret Burley,' Executive Director, Ohio Coalition for the Education of Handi-
capped Children.

Stephen Conley, Director, Richmond, Virginia Cerebral Palmy Center.
Carl Haltom, Delaware State Director, Division of Exceptional Children/Special

Programs.
Carol Johnson, Supervising Director of Assessment and Placement, District of Co-

lumbia Public Schools
Rebicca Marti, Special Education Teacher, Fairfax County, Virginia Public

Schools.
Thomas O'Toole, Director of Special Education and Related Services, Montgomery

County, Maryland Public Schools.
In early November, 1984, the Council for Exceptional Children's (CEC) Govern-

mental Relations Committee appointed a Task Force to study the issues resulting
from the Supreme Court's decision in Smith v. Robinson and recommend to the
Committee any legislative response rvassary. The Task Force met on November 26,
and December 19, at CEC Headquarters. The primary task during the first meeting
was to identify the issues resulting from the Supreme Court's decision and develop a
discussion paper around the issues. At the first meeting, the Task Force members
agreed that input from concerned groups was necessary to assure that the Task
Force considered both sides of the potential issues.

Following the first meeting, the discussion paper was circulated to several con-
cerned organizations and individuals as well as the 13EC Division PAN Coordinators.
Representatives of four national organizations and one individual were invited to
react to the discussion paper and interact with the Task Force on December 19. In-
vited to address the Task Force on December 19 were representatives of the follow-
ing organizations: American Association of School Administrators, Association for
Retarded Citizens, National School Boards Association, and United Cerebral Palsy
Associations, Inc. Also invited to speak was Martin Gerry, Washington based attor-
ney and former director of the U.S. Office of Civil Rights. Also in attendance at the
December 19 meeting were representatives of the American Speech, Hearing, and
Language Association, National Society for Autistic Children and Adults, and the
National Education Association. Brief comments were heard from these three
groups and following the presentations the Task Force developed the policy recom-
mendations contained in this report.

BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE PROBLZM

In July, 1984, the United States Supreme Court ruled in Smith v. Robinson that
when an individual's rights are covered under P.L. 94-142 they have no protections
or legal course of action under Section 504 of the Vocational Rehabilitation Act of
1973, or other civil rights statutes. The rationale of the Court was that P.L. 94-142
was passed after Section 504 and is more detailed and swift; thus, the Congress
must have intended for it tc be the prevailing policy. MWe there is just cause to
question the Court's logic and interpretation of Congressional intent, the decision
stands unless Congress acts.

There are many obvious and speculative implications of the decision. Perhaps the
most immediate one relates to court awarded attorneys' fees. Under P.L. 94-142
there is no legal authorization for the courts to award parents who prevail in court
any reimbursement for the costs they incurred in p their actions through
the courts. Historically, parents going to court sued under P.L. 94-142 and Section
504. Since attorneys' fees were reimbursable under Section 504, the court could
choose to order such payment if the parent prevailed. Since Smith v Robinson elimi-
nated Section 504 as a course of action, there is no authority for the courts to award
the payment of court costs. Many believe that this will severely constrain parents'
ability to exercise their rights under P.L. 94-142. Second, since P.L. 94-142 and Sec-
tion 504 were designed to work in tandem, it is believed that the loss of Section 504
and other civil rights statutes as a _curse of remedy will severely limit the ability to
enforce the educational rights of handicapped children. For example, since P.L. 94-
142 places primary enforcement in the hands of the state and monitoring of the
states in the hands of the federal government, the only base of federal appeal has
been to the Office of Civil Rights (OCR). With loss of the applicability of Section 504,
it is possible that OCR may determine that it has no authority to be involved in
education of the handicapped issues.

Joe Reed, attorney from Columbus, OH represented Margaret Burley during the meetings
and deliberations of the task force.
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In July, the House of Representatives and the Senate introduced companion legis-
lation, H.R. 6014 and S. 3859, under the title "The Handicapped Children's Protec-
tion Act of 1984." The proposed legislation would have done two major things: First,Section 2 of the bills would have amended P.L. 34-142 to authorize the courts toaward attorneys' fees when parents or their representatives prevail in court.
Second, Section 3 of the bills would have clarified that when an individual ix pro-tected by P.L. 94-142, they are still protected by Section 504 and other civil rights
statutes. Because the legislation was introduced in the closing days of the th Con-
gress, no time was available for hearings to be held on the proposed legislation, or
for interest groups to carefully examine the bills' implications. Most handicapped
advocacy groups supported the legislation as written and some education groups op-
posed it. CEC supported Section 3, noting that it would correct Smith v Robinson
and return policy to the status quo. CEC opposed Section 2, arguing that it expend-
ed policy beyond what existed before Smith v Robinson and that this should not be
done without the opportunity to examine the impact, nor without the opportunity
for public input. While compromises were attempted, they could not be reached and
the proposed legislation did not pass before the Congress adjourned. It is expected
that legislation will be introduced in some form and considered when the Congressreturns.

DEISM MONS

At its first meeting on November 26, 1984, the Task Force discussed many of thepotential implications of the Smith v Robinson decision as well as fundamental
problems concerning the ability of parents, schools, and professionals to effectively
exercise their rights and responsibilities under P.L. 94-142. The Task Force agreed
that the following princirles should guide further Task Force Discussions:

1. Federal policy sb..ould assure that there is an effective balance between the
rights and responsibilities of parents and those of the schools.

2. Federal and state policy, including fiscal, should encourage the resolution of
disagreements between parties in the shortest period of time and in the most cost
effective manner for all parties concerned.

3. The rights of individual professionals must also be considered in a manner
equal to the rights of parents and the schools.

4. While utilization of the courts and participation of the legal community is an
essential right possessed by all parties, policy is an essential right possessed by all
parties, policy should not encourage or weigh in favor of legal resources as opposed
to other forms of dispute settlement.

The Task Force also raised a number of questions to consider with invited speak-
ers on December 19,1984.

1- is maintaining a relationship between Section 504, of the Vocational Rehabilita-
tion Act of 19'73, and other civil rights statutes to P.L. 94-142' essential to assuring a
balance between the rights and responsibilities of parents and those of the schools?

2. Are awards of attorneys' fees essential to the balance? If the answer is yes:
a. Should fees be awarded at a lower level of the process than court to expe-dite conflict resolution?
b. Since states are responsible for the integrity and quality of the procedural

safeguards system, should states be responsible for assuming the fiscal liabilityof attorney fees?
c. Should federal funds be available for use by SEAs or LEAs to meet the

costs of attorneys' fees?
d. Should professionals who are sued individually as part of an action against

a school system or state and who have to assume the cost of their legal repre-
sentation be awarded attorneys' fees if they prevail in court? If so, who should
pay?

3. Is the right of a parent to bring a complaint to the federal government essen-
tial to the balance? If the answer is yes, should that complaint go to the Office of
Civil Rights, the Office of Special Education Programs, or some other agency?

4. Should, and if so how can, the procedure under the Education Department Gen-
eral Administrative Regulations (EDGAR) of complaint to the State Education
Agency be utilized to resolve procedural issue disputes? What other alternatives are
there that could be utilized to resolve procedural uieues?

5. Are there alternatives to due process hearings and litigation for resolving dis-
putes over substantive issues in a more efficient and effective, as well as equally
fair, manner? If so how can they be encouraged?
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6. As an alternative to awarding or reimbursing for attorneys' fees, should govern-
ment at some level make available free legal assistance to parents who require it at
any level of the process?

7. Do parents adequately understend their rights and responsibilities under P.L.
94-142? If not, what should be done to improve this situation?

The Task Force also collected and reviewed data regarding court decisions and
due process hearings in an attempt to develop a better understanding of the scope of
the potential problems created by the Court's decision. For the period July 1, 1983 -
June 30, 1984, the Education of the Handicapped Law Report reveals that decisions
were reached in 81 cases before state and federal courts. Data from 14 repo
states reveals great variability in the number of hearings held during 1983 -84. The
range was from 0 to 49 with only three states reporting more than 12 hearings. The
majority of the hearings reported involved the issue to private school placement.

FINDINGS

The Task Force supports the initial position CEC took on the corrective 14slation
introduced late in the second session of the 98th Congress. The need for full discus-
sion and study of the implications of H.R. 6014 and S 8869 was not possible late in
the session. Tune did not allow for hearings on the proposed legislation. Since it ap-
pears similar legislation will be introduced in the 99th Con, the process of cre-
ation of the Task Force was not only appropriate, but the Governmental Relations
Committee and CEC staff are commended for initiating this activity. It is our belief
that hearings and opportunities for public Input should be provided by the Congress
when considering significant policy matters. The Task Force believes that the rec-
ommendations below will provide the necessary safeguards and accountability fac-
tors not present in the bills introduced in the 98th Session.

RICOMMINDATIONS FOR POLICY AND ACTION

I. The Council for Exceptional Children strongly supports the resolution of dis-
putes at the lowest possible level in the minimum amount of time to assure that the
education of a handicapped child does not Buffer during the process of dispute settle-
ment.

A. To assure timely settlement of disputes, the SEA should develop a system to
assure that competent advice is available to the parents and the LEA at the lowest
possible level in dispute settlement.

B. The LEAs and SEAS should develop systems and procedures which may serve
as alternatives to due process hearings and litigation with the assurance that the
rights of handicapped children and their parents are not compromised in an at-
tempt to obtain a timely and fair resolution to disputes over substantive issues. The
utilization of mediation, negotiation, and ombudsman models a-e encouraged when
both parties agree to the utilization of such practices. Such practices should become
the subject of ongoing study by SEA. and other parties interested in procedures for
dispute resolution.

U. The Council for Exceptional Children supports the continuation of a federal
complaint procedure as currently exists within OCR where a violation of the rights
of a handicapped child appears evident.

III. The Council for Exceptional Children supports the award of attorney's fees
under P.L. 94-142 at the discretion of the court based on such factors as ability to
pay and the substance of the issues involved. Such a procedure, with the qualifica-
tions below. is seen as essential to balancing rights between the schools and parents.

A. Such awards should be assessed against the education agency which m ide a
decision that is subseqnently reversed in litigation. Examples:

1. If the parents win a local hearing and the state education agency (SEA)
reverses the decision on appml, the SEA should be responsible for attorney fees
if the court finds in favor of the parents.

2. If the parents win or lose m LEA hearing, and the SEA finds in favor of
the parents on appeal, the LEA should be responsible for attorney fees if it ap-
peals the aecision and if the court fords in favor of the parents.

3. If the parents lose both the LEA hearing and the SEA appeal, the SEA
should be responsible for attorney fees if the court finds in favor of the parents.

B. Attorneys' fee awards should not be paid from federal program funds (Part B,
EHA), except that consideration should be given to permitting the use of P.L. 94-142
SEA administrative funds for this purpose.

IV. The Council for Exceptional Children supports the authority and responsibil-
ity of the SEA in administration and supervision of programs for handicapped chil-
dren. The Council supports the strengthening and streamlining of SEA complaint
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procedures under EDGAR or other avenute and strongly encourages SEA. to make
parents aware of these avenues for complaints. Where policy issues are the focal
point of a complaint, the SEA should clarify policy and disseminate the clailfication
to all LEAS earl interested groups. The Council supports the efforts of the Office of
Special Education Programs, U.S. Department of Education, in strengthening the
state monitoring --item and encourages SEA. to strengthen monitoring systems
within states.

V. The Council for Exceptional Children supports increased efforts on the part of
LEAs, SEAs, and all appropriate governmental and voluntery agencies and organi-
zations to inform staff and parents of their rights and responsibilities for the educa-
tion of handicapped children.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

While not directly related to the issues arising from the Smith v. Robinson deci-
sion, the Task Force expresses concern in two areas. We are concerned that many
parents are unable to exercise their righ., under the procedural safeguard system of
F.L. 94-142 because they lack the knowledge, skills, and financial resources neces-
sary to function effectively in the system. The awarding of attorneys' fees, while im-
portant, does not provide the support that parents who do not have the resources,
fiscal and otherwise, need to even enter the process. Study needs to be given to
better support systems for these parents.

Task Force members also ;scams aware of litigation where individual employees
were named as defendants in a.l&tion to the employing agency. In such cases, the
individual employee may incur costs of legal defense to protect their interests. The
Task Force recommends that in cases where an individual employee is =War
the direction of the employer and providing or services for
children based on accepted professional *an of practice that public fall
utilized in the defense of the employee. The Task Force further recommends that
this problem become the subject of further study by CEC and other professional or-
ganizations.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Lir. Weintraub.
Mr. Bartlett.
Mr. BARTLETT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Arnol 1, let me begin with your testimony just to make sure.

I believe your testimony was quite good and quite complete, but let
me make sure that I understand. You are suugestiug a need to
clarify what you view as the technical ambiguity that ont,
court-related or litigation-related fees would be rein buried. As you
know, that is the intent of the sponsors of the and you are
going to suggest to us some language that couldycq are contend-
ing there is an ambiguity and it may or I:- the drafting we have
may or may not clo that.

Ms. ARNOLD. Yes, sir.
Mr. BARTLETT. Under what circumstai,....es world the draft that

we I ave notor allow more than just court-related costs?
Ms. ARNOLD. It doesn't limit the award to merely judicial
Mr. BARTLETT. So it is noi, an expressed limitation?
Ms, ARNOLD. Right, which is needed.
Mr. BARTLETT. And you would also have us, then, expressly pro-

hibit the bypass of 94-142 procedure) or administrative due process
directly to Federal courts, so you would also have us expressly pro-
hibit the bypass of 94-142 to Federal court. Is that your testimony?

Ms. ARNOLD. Yes, sir.
Mr. BARTLETT. OK, and you provide some suggested ways of

doing that for us, also. One other question, and that is, how would
you build in

Ms. ARNOLD. Unless it isexcuse meunlbss it is a situation in
which 94-142 would not apply, would not provide the remedy.
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Mr. BARTLETt. So in those cases in which 94-142 is applicable,
you would prohibit the bypass of the due process- -

Ms. ARNOLD. That is correct.
Mr. BARTLETT [continuing]. Procedures.
Would you support or oppose any sort of a cap on attorney's fees,

either an hourly rate or some sort of aperhaps there is a way to
have this committee definethat the attorney would halve to prove
up what his rate is or something like that. Do you see that as a
problem?

Ms. ARNOLD. I think that would be very difficult for the commit-
tee to deal with. The marketplace c iteria, I think, is a fairly work-
able one. The marketplace tends to reflect what theor the attor-
ney's fee award under the marketplace criteria would reflect what
the regional market can bear. As you know, attorney's fees vary
widely from place to place.

For instance, my fees in Texas, in Houston, were about three
times higher than they are now in Blacksburg, VA.

Mr. Barman. Would you have the Congress give the courts any
g tidance at all as to how to set the attorney's fees or are you satis-
fied the t courts are now setting them adequately?

Ms. ARNOLD. I think that the courts have developed a number of
standards that are used that would work quite well with litigation
under 94-142 in determining the attorney's fees awards.

Mr. Barium. Mr. Weintraub, I wondered if you eau13 elaborate
a bit. You suggested in broad terms that we should restore the re-
lationship between 94-142 and 504. Could you elaborate as to what
in this bill should be done? Does this bill do that or is there some-
thing else that needs to be done to restore that relationship?

Mr. WEINTRAUB. I think the bill generally does that, and we sup-
port that. Fundamentally, that was what the Supreme Court undid
in Smith v. Robinson. What the Court said was that since 94-142
existed, the parallel legislation, section 504, was therefore nonap-
plicable. I think in designing 94-142. the Congress Intended the two
to work together.

Certainly, as this committee knows, last year in its efforts in
looking at monitoring, there was concern about the degree to
which the Office of Civil Rights and the Office of Special Education
was effectively working together and the question of whether the
memorandum of agreement that used to exist

Mr. BARTLETT. So you think this bill accomplishes that?
Mr. WarNmAus. I think this bill restores that relationship. I do

think and agree with Ms. Arnold that somewhere we have got to
also look at how the two function together, but I think the princi-
ple of restoring the relationship is addressed and we support that.

Mr. BAwrizrr. Would you include, as we have done in this bill,
some sort of mediation component or a right for that informal
hearing before the due process begins, the right to the parent?

Mr. VfaufraAtni. We have some concern about the way the lan-
guage is addressed or the language is set forth in the bill. We sun-
port the need for continual efforts at informal resolution. We hen
to look and make sure that in doing that, we don't delay the proc-
ess and, in fact, protract it. The legislation presently permits medi-
ation. I think part of the issues and part of some of the concerns
that Mr. Wr ,ht addressed are really issues that we aught to be ad-
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dressing to the State of Texas, or addressing to some of the States
as to why they have not utilized that authority for effective media-tion and put that into place.

I am not sure that we need to require it. Once people have
r ached the point of saying, "Let's go to a hearing because we dis-
agree," I am not sure forcing them into informal negotiation after
the negotiation should have already taken place, but I do supportthe principle that you are trying to address. I am concerned about
some of the language.

Mr. Barrurrr. Thank you, Mr. Weintraub.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Mr. Martinez.
Mr. MArrnaz. No questions.
Mr. Wuz..wcs. Ms. Arnold, let me see if I understand your testi-

mony.
The Department of Education has issued regulations implement-

ing 94-142 and section 504. In certain respects, these regulations
overlap Now, the fact that BEN, which is now Special Education
Programs, and OCR have shared responsibility regarding the rightsof handicapped childicm representsquoting now from your testi-mony"poor management of Department resources in times de-manding the utmost fiscal responsihilic es."

Your solution, as I understand it, 1q to restrict OCR's jurisdiction
and, you have a point, perhaps only one office within the Depart-
ment of Education should be responsible for ensuring compliancewith the various congressional mandates affecting the handi-capped. But let me ask you: Shouldn't that office be OCR instead of
SEP in light of OCR's long history and experience with enforce-ment and compliance?

Ms ARNOLD. We are not overly concerned as to which office
moni 3 the compliance, as long as it is monitored consistentlyand as long as the procedural requirements set forth in the regula-tions are mandated.

Mr. WiLuams. Let me be sure on one other point that I under-
stand correctly your testimony and your answers to Congressman
Bartlett, do you want the legislation to specify that fees for media-tion are not to be awarded?

MS. ARNOLD. I am not sure that is the language I would use,but
Mr. WILLIAMS. Let me have your language; you tell me what youwant, then.
Ms. ARNOLD. I would rather have some time to work with yourstaff on that, but what we would like is a limitation that the award

of attorney's fees would be for judicial proceedings, for time andeffort spent--
Mr. WILLIAMS. Litigation rather than
Ms. ARNOLD. Than the due process hearing procedures. Primarily

because we feel that that would drastically alter the nature of the
due process hearing itself.

Mr. WILLIAMS. We look forward to working with you on that.
Mr. Weintraub, in your testimony, you described the importance

of the selection and training of hearing officers. Would you expand
on that somewhat and tell us how it might relate to reducing thenumbers of cases that might go to litigation?
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Mr. WEINTRAUB. I think that we have to remember that there
are generally two types of issues that come up in the hearing proc-
ess. Again, we are emphasizingas you indicated, there were only,
what, 1,400 hearingsbut the issues are generally over what is ap-
propriate for the child. It is an educational decision. We are trying
to decide what is the free appropriate public education for that
child. The majority of the hearings deal with placement, deal with
related services, issues like that.

The second type of issue that comes up in a hearing relates to
policy. An example was the Tatro case in Texas, which dealt with;
is catheterization required or isn't it required. There wasn't really
much debate as to whether Andrew Tatro needed catheterization
or not; the question was, was the school required to provide it or
not. Those are generally the two types of issues that come up in a
hearing.

To do that, a hearing officer must, I think, be well trained in,
one, the requirements, the law and how the process can effectively
work and how to keep the process on task; and two, is to know
what the policies of the State are and to know how to interpret
those within the light of the decisions that are being made.

In many cases, hearing officers are selected in some States
simply becausein some States, they are selected because they are
lawyers, under the assumption that even lawyers are a good idea
in this. I don't know why lawyers in some cases are selected to be
hearing officers. In other cases, lawyers are simply selected on the
basis that they have had a lot of experience with handicapped kids,
not necessarily_ that they are effectively trained, that, too, that
their decisions are monitored not by the State agrees or disagrees
with the decision, but that, in fact, the decisions are of the kind of
quality that need to be done.

If that was done, then I think there would be less propensity and
need to go to court. I think we also have to keep in mind thot the
court, in the Rowley decision, basically said that if the process is
carried out with good integrity, then the courts are not going to
step in and make the kinds of decisions that Superintendent
Wright suggested that they are going to make, that the courts are
going to make educational decisions. The courts have said, "We
don't want to do that."

Where does the court get involved? The court gets involved when
the integrity of the system is not carried out in. the way it should
be. I think the only way you can hold the integrity accountable is
to place the financial responsibility on the backs of those who
make the decisions.

Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much.
We appreciate the testimony of both of you and, again, of Mr.

Wright. Thank you.
Mr. WEINTRAUB. Thank 1 ou.
Mr. WILLIAMS. We will call our second panel. Ms. Roberts and

Ms. Galarza.
We also welcome to the committee the gentleman from New

York, Mr. Biaggi; the geatleman from Texas, Mr. Loeffler, and I
understand, Mr. Loeffler, that you wish to introduce one of these
witnesses to the committee.
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Mr. LOEFFLER. I do, Mr. Chairman, and I thank you for the op-rztunity to play a small role in your hearings today.
It is my high honor and great privilege to be able to introduce

:,afore you and the members of this subcommittee one of my con-stituents, Ms. Beverly Galarza, from San Antonio, TX. Beverly has
worked diligently to effect changes in the law with respect to the
recu"ery of attorney fees for the prevailing party under the Educa-tion of All Handicapped Children's Act.

Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee, from time totime, we travel hard throughout our congressional districts; we
return to Washington; we listen to all of the expert witnesses who
have been studying issues year in and year out and sometimes wewonder why it is important for us to return home. Beverly is a case
in point that makes all Members of Congress feel that, in fact, it is
most important to be able to touch and to visit with those who you
represent and to do that on a one-to-one basis.

We met in the latter part of last year and I was as impressed
with Beverly's determination as I was with her own personal expe-rience as a parent. These experiences are those that she will share
with you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the subcommittee today.

To you, Mr. Chairman, and to the members and the staff of the
subcommittee, I particularly want to thank you for working with
Beverly. Particularly do I want to express my appreciation and
thanks to my colleague from Texas, Congressman Bartlett, as well
as his very capable staff who have joined me, my staff and Beverlyin making this presentation to you today. To all of you on the com-mittee and to those of you in the audience today, when you hearher speak, you will know that she speaks from the experience to
avoid.

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I will do every-thing in my power to work with you to see that the problems that
she has confronted as a parent on behalf of her child and all handi-
capped who have to suffer the same experience never recur again.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you, Mr. Loeffler, we appreciate that intro-

duction and particularly appreciate your interest and good guid-ance in this important issue.
Ms. Galarza, we will start with you.

STATEMENT OF BEVERLY J. GALARZA, SAN ANTONIO, TX
Ms. GALARZA. Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee, I

am Beverly Galarza of San Antonio, TX. I am here today to testify
before this committee to tell all of you about my 5-year legal battle
to secure the guarantees of the Education of All Handicapped Chil-dren's Act for my son, Steven, about the fact that it is impossible
for myself or any parent to pursue the act's guarantees without
legal representation and why the act must be amended to ensurethat it is not flagrantly ignored by our school districts.

I am a single paren. and have always had to work full-time
hours a week to support myself and my child. My only eon, Steven,
is severely handicapped due to being developmentally delayed asthe result of his cerebral cortex not developing prop Steven is12 years old. Although he has no verbal language, Stevan cornmu-
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nicates through the use of a notebook-type binder which contains
approximately 13 pages of picture/word combinations and words
without pictures. He is learning to make very short sentences by
stringing three to six words together. Four years ago, when Steven
was 8 years old, Steven had no means of communication except to
laugh, cry, and tantrum. Since the spring of 1982, Steven's physical
development has progrese ad from learning to crawl on his hands
and knees to sidestepping the length of a table, then to walking
with a walker. He can now walk holding my hand and just a few
months ago, he began taking some independent steps.

Steven is incontinent and we have been unsuccessful in our at-
tempts to toilet train 'him Without our continued structured and
repetitive program, Steven is subject to behavioral outbursts and

reL
on.

retitlig Steven's preschool years from age 3 to 5, his rogress was
slow but steady thanks to a 12-month education provvi ed through
the Head Start Program. An example of the banefits of a 12-month
program was that at age 5 when he left the program, he could
stand and hold on to a little walker and move it a couple of steps.
However, when he entered public school, he was only provided 9
months of school with no provision for the summer months.

As a consequence, after he left the 12-month Head Start Pro-
gram, all of the learning Steven achieved from September to May
was lost during each summer. For, example, he was not able to
walk with the aid of the walker again until he was 10 years old.

In September 1980, I asked my son's school to provide a 12-
month school program for Steven. When officials refused, I ob-
tained legal representation and we pursued the State administra-
tive avenues provided by that act. It was not until 9 months later,
just as school was ending in May, that our case was heard by a
State hearing officer.

Evidence wes presented during a 2-day trial. Both the school and
I were represented by legal counsel. Although the decision was not
rendered until the end of 1981, more than 1 year after I had re-
quested summer schooling -ling was favorable to Steven. We
had achieved what I had c id from the beginning was due my
son under Federal law.

Our success, however, was short lived. In Februaly 1982, the
school district filed suit in Federal district court seeking review of
the State education agency's ruling; 2 years later, I was once again
awarded the relief I requested in 1980. However, in the process of
defending the State's riding and this relief, my attorneys expended
numerous hours briefing issues which the judge himself character-
ized as numerous and complex.

During the course of litigation, my lawyers were successful in
getting a preliminary injunction requiring the school to give my
son summer school for the summer of 1983. However, this was only
after the court heard 5 days of evidence, mostly from experts, awl
required legal briefing on numerous procedural and substantive
issues.

In early summer of 1984, the Federal court upheld the State's de-
cision, and after finding that I was the prevailing party, found that
I should be awarded my attorney's fees, However, before the court
was able to determine the amount of such an award and enter an
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order, the Supreme Court decided in Smith v.. Robinson that be-
cause Congress did not expressly state that fees were available toparties who prevailed in litigation under the EAHCA, none couldbe granted.

Because of this decision, my attorneys were not awarded theirfees by the Federal court. Unfortunately, but predictably, theschool district has appealed the district court's order affirming the
State agency's decision requiring summer school to be provided. Re-gardless of the appeal, I anticipate further legal battles prior toevery summer session.

I am here today because I am concerned not only for what lies
ahead in my case, but for those parents yet to come who may befaced with problems that cannot be resolved between the parents
and school officials. I am convinced that without the act beingamended to include a reasonable award of attorney's fees to pre-vailing parties in any action dealing with the EAHCA, parents willbe unable to challenge their school district's decisions and the actwill become an empty promise to the handicapped children ofAmerica.

Although a parent knows their child's individual needs, their
knowledge and compassion do little good in the legal proceedings
built into the EAHCA when the school district attempts to escapeits responsibility to educate a handicapped child.

We are not equipped with law degrees or the experience that
comet with being a lawyer. We are ignorant regarding procedural
rules. We are no help to the courts in researching or interpreting
and applying the law to the difficult questions posed by our cases.The courts rely heavily on lawyers to brief cases and legal issues, atask which a parent would be helpless to perform.

Also, at the administrative level, which is mandatory and criti-cal, the school district will always be represented by counsel.
Issues are complex and evidence no less important than before acourt. Without an attorney, parents have little chance of prevail-

ing, despite the merits of their case. I cannot conceive of a parent
attempting to bring a case before a State agency or Federal courtalone.

The injustice faced by parents without attorneys is especially
severe in a case like mine where the parent prevails at the admin-istrative level. I was satisfied with the decision of the State educa-
tion agency. I did not file a lawsuit in Federal court; the school did.
They have not stopped appealing and they won't. There is no in-centive for them not to.

I would ask you to .think about the stubbornness of this schooldistrict in Texas and about the children who one day may havetheir rights under the law violated. Each of you should consider
whether attorneys in your districts would be willing or able to
become involved in a long, complex, and emotional case, knowingthat even if they prevail, that they would not be paid for manyhours and years of labor.

In my particular case, my attorneys have spent over 700 hours
from the fall of 1980 to the present.

These concerns are clearly spelled out in a letter which I wouldlike to submit to all of you as part of my testimony that my attor-
ney wrote to Congressman Bartlett at his request. The letter dis-
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cusses the amount of hours spent by my lawyer, both at the admin-
istrative level and in district court, as well as some of his own con-
cerns involving the act.

[The letter from Henry W. Christopher, Jr. follows:]
JOHNSON & CHRISTOPHICR,

San Antonio, TX., February 4, 1985.

Hon. &revs BARTLITT,
U.S. Congressman,
Longworth Buildirg, Washington, DC

Ds is CONGIGISSMAN Barriers You will recall that in November of 1984, my
client, Beverly Galarza, and I met with you to discuss our concerns about the
impact that the United States Supreme Court's Decision in Smith v. Robinson will
have on the ability of a parent to enforce the rights of a parent and handicapped
child under the Education of All Handicapped Children Act ("EAHCA"). Mrs. Oa-
larro and I appredate very much the time that you set aside to allow us to explain
our concerns to you.

At the time of our meeting, you requested me to provide you wit'_ certain infor-
mation. Please accept my apology for the delay in responding.

We did some research to try to isolate the number of cases that had been litigated
and taken up on appeal since the enactment of the EAHCA in 1976. I enclose a
Schedule of Citations reflecting those cases which have reached the appellate level
as of approximately the end of 1984 and which involved an effort by a parent and/
or handicapped child to exercise rights granted under the EAHCA. As you will note,
there have been approximately 116 Loses that reached the ppellate level in the
nine years that the EAHCA has been in existence, or apprcunately 13 cases per
year. There have been, of course, other cases under the EAHCA which dealt with
disputes between the variousgovern ntal agencies with regard to funding and
other technical disputes. The Scheduleof Citations include only those cases that
appear to have involved disputes between the parent-child and the School District.

You further requested information with regard to the procedures applicable to
Mrs. Galarza's efforts to pursue the rights and remedies provided by the EAHCA. I
enclose a copy of the response that was received from the Texas Education Agency
after Mrs. Galarza invoked her rights of appeal following the unfavorable action of
the Admissions, Review, and Dismissal Committee ("ARD Committee'). I further en-
close Disclosure. of Evidence and Witness and Document Lists exchanged between
the attorneys as required by Federal Regulations governing the EAHCA. Mrs. Ga-
larza's exercise of her administrative remedy resulted in a two-day trial before a
Hearing Examiner, at which ten witnesses presented testimony, primarily individ-
uals having expertise in various discipline.. The witnesses included three psycholo-
gists, two teachers, a Director of Special Education, and a pediatrician/neurologist.
A total of 124% hours had been expended by our firm, primarily by me, prior to the
time the School District filed its Petition in U.S. District Cou.t exercising its right
to appeal the Administrative Order, which granted the relief requested by Mrs.
larza.

The Administrative Hearing was concluded in May of 1981, the Administrative
Order was issued in January of 1982, and the appeal by the School District was com-
menced in February of 1982. Injunctive relie to implement the Administrative
Order, at least in part, was obtained and remained in effect at the time of the trial
before a U.S. Magistrate in May of 1988. That trial took one week to complete and
included testimony by 18 witnesses, who again were primarily per with exper-
time in various disciplines. They included an orthopaedic surgeon, two physical
therapists, two speech therapists, two occupational therapists, one doctor of educa-
tion, one doctor of special education, one pediatrician/neurologist, a psychologist, a
principle of a state school for handicapped children, and two teachers. As of July,
1984, our firm had expended approximately 185 additional hours (a total of 810
hours), and an attorney who has worked as co-counsel had spent anroximately 400
hours. At that point, the trial, including all proceedings before the United States
District Judge, had been completed. The case is now on appeal to the Fifth Circuit.

As I stated at the time of our m ang, a parent is ill equipped to represent her-
self and her child in exercising her administrative remedy under the EithCA. Gen-
erally, the parent will have no knowledge of procedural and evidence requirements,
nor the ability to secure and organize the evidence to present the facts to the Hear-
ing Examiner. Unless there is a full and proper presentation of the facts, the issue*
cannot be fairly resolved. Furthermore, it is uni*kele that a parent can look at the
issue objectively. It would be a rae parent . the pressures of the
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"system" at the same time that parent is enduring all of the emotional upset that
exists in caring for a handicapped child and is being frustrated in that parent's ef-
forts to obtain the educational aid that is believed to be required by the child.

The Administrative Hearing is extremely important, because under the EAHCA
it creates a record for review by the Judge who hears any of the Administra-
tive Order and who will be expected to put substantial wMOt on the facts elicited
at that Hearing. A failure to properly present the facts and applicable law at theadministrative level may well result in an inadequate record, and a losing parent
would thereby be effectively denied an appeal. It is simply unfair to expect a parentto handle the case for a parent-child experienced school officials and wit-
nesses. The inequity is further in when the School District elects to spend
public monies to hire an attorney to represent it in the proceeding.

There is no question that a parent will be unable to cope with the procedural and
evidentiary requirements incidental to an appeal of an Administrative Order to the
judicial level. Without representation, a parent losing at the administrative level is,
again, effectively denied the ability to utilise the remedies purportedly granted by
the EAHCA. The inequity of the denial of an effective right of appeal is even more
glaring when you consider a case when the School District has lost at the adminis-
trative level. If the parent cannot be represented, all the School District has to do isappeal, and the Order of the Administrative Hearing Examiner will never be imple-mented.

It is unfortunate that the issues involving the education of a handicapped child
are as complex as they are, but a review of the cases that have reached the appel-late courts will reflect that this is generally true.

We talked about your concerns about the possibility that a parent who did not infact "win", might nevertheless be allowed a recovery of attorneys' fees. I have
thought considerably about your concerns, but have not been able to come up with
any better solution than to permit a recovery of attorneys' fees to be awarded to a
parent-child who "prevails". I realize that it e possible to have a difference of opin-
ion as to whether or not a parent "prevailed" in an individual case, but I know of
no better solution that to permit the Judge who has heard the facts to make that
decision. A review of the cases will reflect that the courts generally require that the
parent must have prevailed in a "substantial way". Furthermore, the courts gener-
ally carefully sceutinize the time spent by the attorney to be sure that attorneys'
fees are awarded only for that time reasonably and necessarily expended on those
issues upon which the plaintiff prevailed in a substantial way.

The fact that the number of cases filed over nine years (not including thaw still
at the trial court level, or which never reached an appeal) totaled only, awrmdmate-
ly 13 per year, leads me to believe that there will not be a substantial influx of
cases simply because a prevailing parent/child is entitled to recover attorneys' fees.
Only those parents who feel very strongly about the needs of the child will be will-ing to expend the time and bear the emotional stress necessary to exercise the
rights granted by the EAHCA. I believe that while there may be some unreasonable
parents, in most instances, there will be a substantial basis in fact for the relief re-
quested. Having experienced a proceeding under the EAHCA, I am convinced that if
the EAHCA is not amended so as to p de reasonable access to adequate represen-
tation by an attorney, the EAHCA .t as well 'de repealed and the Decisions left
exclusively in the hands of the School District, who, after all, control the ARD Com-
mittee. Alternatively, if the Act is to be maintained and is to be enfmad, it wouldbe necessary to establish some procedure for representation through a federal or
state agency, which would be far more costly and less efficient than permitting a
prevailing parent a recovery of attorneys' fees incurred.

There is one other point that I believe is significant in responding to the_ mo-
ment that permitting a parent to recover attorneys' fees will cause a great deal ofadditional and perhaps unnecessarytigation and, therefore, expense to be incurred
by School Districts. It should be re beerrssdd that even in those instances where anattorney is compensated, he is compensated only at a reasonable hourly rate for
services rendered, and only with regard to time spent on those issues upon whichthe parent prevailed in a substantial way. Generally, then, oven when a parent
wins, the attorney is not likely to receive a full normal hourly rate for time expend-
ed in the case. In those cases where a loss occurs, no fee will be payable. Generally,
an attorney is unwilling to take contingent fee cases, unless there is a reasonableexpectation of a her recovery than a normal hourly rate if the case is won. Thereason for that is that the contingent fee cases that are lost must be offset by earn-
ings in other cases. It is extremely unlikely that there will be many attorneys, and
certainly no competent and ethical ones, who will be willing to devote time to a case
unless there is some merit in the case. His rewards, if he wins, are less than he
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would obtain from pursuing normal employment that is not as stressful as partici-
pating in a case involving the rights of a handicapped child, and he further will
subject himself to no compensation if a loss occurs. Finally, I believe that it had
been generally believed in the educational community, up until the time of the De-
cision in Smith v. Robinson, that attorneys' fees were recoverable by prevailing par
ents. There have been a number of cases that have so held. Despite that prevai it

-

belief, there has not been any substantial influx of litigation.
You will recall thaL in response to your question at the time of our meeting I ad-

vised that I would be available t' provide testimony before any appropriate Commit-
tees of Congi ..se, if requested to do so. I also have secured the name of an attorney
in the Dallas-Ft. Worth area who may be able to provide information to you on this
issue, although I have not talked to him. He is the Hor-eable Craig Enoch, who, I
believe, is now a State District Judge. It is my understanding he handled a case
under the EAHCA during his years of private practice.

Again, I wish to express my appreciation and that of my client for your willing-
ness to consider our views on this important issue.

With best regards, I am
Yours very truly,

Enclosures.
HINRY W. Cmuitrorwea, Jr.
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TEXAS EDUCATION AGENCY,
Austin, TX, May 14, 1981.

Re Steven G. bnf Mrs. Beverly G. v. Alamo Heights Independent School District
Docket No. 148-SE-581.

WILLis W. LUTTRELL, Jr.,
Johnson & Christopher,
San Antonio, TX.
CALVIN E. GROSS,
Superintendent, Alamo Heights Independent School District,
San Antonio, TX.

GENTLEMEN: This will acknowledge receipt of the request for hearing in the
above-styled and numbered matter. For Respondent's information, a copy of the re-
quest is enclosed. Also enclosed is a copy of this Agency's procedures for hearings
concerning handicapped student.

Mr. James P. Williams has been appointed hearing officer in this matter. He will
contact the parties with additional information pertinent to the request. Please be
advised that although the hearing officer may discuss matters procedural in nature,
he is prohibited by the Administrative Procedure Act from discussing the merits of
this case.

Pursuant to Federal Rules and Regulations, 34 C.F.R., §§ 300a.571 -573 (formerly
45 C.F.R., §§ 121a.571 -573), personally identifiable information must be removed
from all correspondence, exhibits and instruments filed in this matter. Accordingly,
please omit or blot out Petitioner's surname, address, etc. from all material filed.

F. - additional information or assistance, please contact the hearing officer at the
address or telephone number noted below.

Very truly yours,
MTS. ANNVITE HEWOLEY,

Administrative Assistant,
Office of General Counsel.

71.05 Hearings concerning handicapped students
Authority: Section 11.33, Texas Education Code, and Section 6252-13a, Vernon's

Texas Civil Statutes.
These rules are intended to bring the procedures on hearings and appeals of the

Texas Education Agency into compliance with Part B of the Education of the Handi-
capped Act as amended by Public Law 94-142, 20 U.S.C. Sections 1401 et seq. and
the applicable federal regulations, 45 C.F.R. Sections 121a.1-121a.754. These rules
supplement Rules 226.23.09.010-030, Hearings Before Local Boards, Rules
226.71.01.010-.210, Hearings and Appeals Generally, Rules 226.71.02.010-.180, Hear-
ings of Appeals to the Commissioner, and Rules 226.71.03.010-.050, Appeals to the
State Board of Education, and are inwnded to be applied together with those rules
except where a conflict exists, in which case these rules shall prevail. Users of these
rules should particularly be aware that the time deadlines for hearings and appeals
involving handicapped children have been greatly accelerated to achieve compliance
with the federal regulations, 45 C.F.R. Section 121a.512, which require the public
agency bearing and decision to be completed within 45 days and state agency review
to be completed within 30 days unless appropriate extensions of time zre requested
and granted.
.010 Applicability

Notwithstanding any other provision in the rules for Hearings Before the Com-
missioner of Education and the State Board of Education, the following rules shall
be followed in any case involving a change in the identification, evaluation, educa-
tional placement or provision of a free appropriate public education to a handi-
capped child. In such cases, 45 C.F.R. Sections 121a.1-121a.754 shall also apply.
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.020 Request for Hearing
A request for hearing must set forth in plain and concise language a substantial

complaint concerning a ruling, action, or failure to act by a school official, commit-
tee, or other local administrative unit. The request must be file with the board of
trustees of the district and with the commissioner ofeducation within 15 days after
the ruling, action, or failure to act forming the basis for the complaint.
.090 Hearing

A hearing officer appointed by the state commissioner of education shall conducta h within 10 days of the receipt of the request for hearing. The hearing she:.be recorded and transcribed by a court reporter, who shall immediately prepare and
transmit a transcript of the evidence to the officer, with copies to the peti-
tioner and the board of trustees of the districth Wi 15 days after the close of
hearing, the hearing officer shall prepare and transmit to the commissioner of enu-
cation a proposal for decision together with the original transcript of the evidence,
with copies of the proposal to the petitioner and the Iloard of trustees.
.040 Notices to the commissioner of education

(a) board of Trurtees.Within 10 days after receipt of the proposal for decision,
the board of trustees shall transmit to the commissioner of education a notice stat-ing whether or not the proposal for decision is accepted. If the proposal for decision
is not accepted, the notice shall also include proposed findings of fact, proposed con-clusions of law, and a proposed order reflecting the local board's view of the case.

(b) Within 10 days after receipt of the proposal for decision, the petitioner may
transmit to the commissioner of education a notice stating whether or not petitioner
agrees with the proposal for decision. This notice may contain proposed findings of
fact, proposed conclusions of law, and a proposed order reflecting petitioner's viewof the case.

.050 Appeal to the State commissioner ofeducation.
Within 10 days after the receipt of notices from the parties, the commissioner of

education shall consider the evidence, proposal for decision, and the notices fromthe parties, and shall render and transmit to the parties a decision based on the
record made before the hearing officer.
.060 Appeal

if any party is dissatisfied with the final order of the state commissioner of educa-
tion, he or she may app to tho State Board of Education within 5 days of their
receipt of the final order. The State Board of Education shall render a decisionbased on the record ir.ade before the hearing officer, along with any exceptions and
replies, within 30 days of its receipt of the notice of appeal. Briefs may be receivedby the State Board of Education pursuant to the procedures on hearings and ap-
peals of the State Board of Education. No new evidence will be received and no oralargument will be heard.
.070 State Board decision

The decision of the State Board of Education shall be rendered and announced to
the parties and their counsel on the date of the hearing.
.080 Rehearing

A motion for rehearing shall be prerequisite for judicial review of the decision of
the State Board of Education and must be filed within 10 days after issuance of the
decision. Motions for rehearing shall be overruled by operation of law if not actedupon within 30 days after filing.
.090 Extension of time

At the request of any party, the hearing officer, commissioner, or chairman of theState Board of Education, as appropriate, may grant specific extensions of time
beyond the periods set out in these rules.
.100 Filing of documents

Documents shall be deemed filed only when actually received by the designated
hearing officer, state commissioner of education, or State Board of Education.
.110 Construction of rules

These rules shall not be construed so as to enlarge, diminish, modify, or alter the
jurisdiction, powers, or authority of local school boards or this agency, or the sub-stantive rights of any person.
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Docket NO. 148-8E-581

STEVEN G. BNF, AND BEVERLY G., errrnosze

V.

Al Ann Hamm INDEPENDENT SCHOOL Mawr, RESPONDENT

DISCLOSURE OF EVIDENCE

Before the IMPARTIAL HEARING OFFICER, TEXAS EDUCATION AGENCY

To THE HEARING Orme: Pursuant to 84 C.F.R. Section 121a.5808(aX3), Petition-
ers hereby disclose to Respondent the following evidence which they propose to in-
troduce at the hearing in this case:

(1) Beverly G., Petitioner in this riatter, will testify as to Steven 0.'s
her efforts to obtain appropriate education services for Steven G., the procedures
followed by Respondent with to its decisions relating to services to Steven 4.
and as to information by her in Steven 0.'s education records and will
verify correspondence received by her from Respondent which correspondence and
records will be introduced into evidence;

(2) Sylvia Wilson, Certified Special Education Teenier and Steven G.'s former
teacher, will be called to testify as to Steven G.'s disabilities, 'ais unique problems
and individual learning characteristics, the extent of hir myrmidon upon an inter-
ruption in his education program, and biz limited ability to recoup lost skills and
behavior control, his other unique education needs, and the appropriate education
program needed to serve such needs;

(3) John Seals, a licensed physician specializing in pediatric neurology, will be
called to testify as to Steven G.'s medical history, his physiological, neurological and
psychological handicaps; and the effect of these handicaps on Steven 0.'s education
needs and will verify and interpret records compiled by him with regard to Steven
G. which records will be introduced into evidence;

(4) Linda Schule, Steven 0.'s former teacher will be called to testify as to Steven
G.'s disabilities, his unique problems and individual learning characteristics, the
extent of his regression upon an interruption in his educational program, and his
limited ability to recoup lost skills and behavior control, his other unique education
needs, and the appropriate education required to serve such needs;

(5) Ira Collenun, Chief Psychologist at San Antonio State School, will be called to
testify as to Steven G.'s physiological and psychological disabilities, his need for a
highly structured education program, the effect of interruption in his education pro-
gram and the consequential regression, loss of motivation, loss of trust and the like-
lihood that Steven G. may irreversibly withdraw from the learning pprr000ceessss upon
repeated interruptions in his education program. Additionally, Dr. Collerein will
testify as to Steven 0.'s education needs and the most appropriate placement in
which to serve such needs and will interpret certain medical records to be intro-
duced into evidence;

(6) Brenda Atkins, Director of Special Education, Alamo Heights Independent
School District, will be called as an adverse witness and directed to bring all records
concerning Steven G. in the possession of Respondent or its agents and will be
called to testify as to Steven 0.'s education program and the Alamo Heights Special
Education Program and will verify records compiled by Respondent with regard to
Steven G. which records will be introduced into evidence;

(7) Rose Spradley, a Certified Special Education Teacher, employed by Respondent
will be called as an adverse witness to testify as to Steven (L 'e disabilities, her ef-
forts and achievements towards teaching Steven G. to obtain a level of self eufficien-
cY consistent with his handicap, to Steven G.'s education needs and the most appro.
priate placement in which to serve said needs.

Respectfully submitted,
HENRY W. Cinuaroniza, Jr.,

Attorney for Petitioner.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This Disclosure of Evidence has been hand delivered to Randolph P. Tower, Clem-
ens, Spencer, Welmaker & Finck, Attorney for Respondent, 1805 National Bank of
Commerce Building, San Antonio, Texas 78205 or this 22nd day of May, 1981.

HENRY W. Cimurroniza, Jr.
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CLLMENS, SPENCER, WEIJAAILER & PINCH,
San Antonio, TX, May 22, 1981.

Re Steven Galarza.
Mr. BILL LUTTRELL,
Johnstm & Christopher,
San Antonio. TX,

DEAR Btu.: Enclosed please fin 1 a List of Possiole Witnesses and Documentary
Evidence. As stated, we will have the entire file available at the hearing. We willtry to get you copies of 3 through 5 on Tuesday, May 26.

Very truly yours,
RANDOLPH P. Town..

Enclosures.

LBIT OF POSSIBLE WITNESSES AND DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE

WITNINSES

Ms. Roee Spradley, Ms. Brenda Atkir.a, Dr. Floyd Hill, and Dr. Sandra Loucks.
Each of these witnesses will dim testimony .elat;ng to the twel re-r n.th ;sure.

DtiCL,IENTARY EVIDEICK

1 on, Review. Dismissal Committee Recori of September 25, 1980 re:
_ vet. Gr.% (stucheti).

E. .1crt c Compreheng4ve Individual Assessment dated October M, 1980 re:Steven (. :arse (attached).
3. Project Vision-Up ?rail:. Sheet for school years 1979-8C and 1980-81. This doc-

ument is a graphic chart documenting skills mastered.
4. Adapted Resource Educational Plan and Student Proven Report including the

following areas: (a) self-help, (b) physical development, (c) language development, (d)
intellectual development, and (e) fine motor.

5. Teacher's Anecdotal Log for pars 1979-80 and 198 -81. This document is a
daily anecdotal record on Steven Galarsa kept by Ms. Spradley.

Ms. GALARZA. Finally, I think it is important to emphasize that
amendment of the Pct will n' necessitate any additional Federal
spending. What the a. lendment seek, 4a an award against the local
school district when the parent prevaus. Enforcement of a Federal
law is thereby accomplished without spending a single Federal
dollar.

By its actions, one can see that this school district in Texas has
expended an enormous amount of muney paying its attorneys to
avoid providing the education ordered by the hearing officer, the
Commissioner of Education, the U.S. magistrate and the Federal
judge for my son, Steven.

I can tell you from my experience that some school districts will
not provide adequate educational programs unless forced to do so.

I am grateful to all of you in allowing me to be here today. I am
hopeful that my experience will cause all of you to become con-
vinced that amendment of the act and guarantee of fees to legal
representatives is essential to continued vitality of the Education of
All Handicapped Children's Act.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the committ3e.
[Prepared statement -f Beverly Galarza follows:)

PREPARED STATISM. or BEVERLY GALA2ZA, SAN ANTONIO, TX
Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I sin Beverly Galarsa of San Anto-

nio, Texas. I am here today to testify before this Committee to tell you about nti5
year legal battle to secure the zruaranteee of the Education of All HandicappedChin
dren's Act foi my son, Steven, about the fact that it is impossible for myself or any
parent to pc,.sue the Act's guarantees without legal representation, and why the
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Act must be amended to ensure that it is not flagrantly ignored by our school dis-
tricts.

I am a single parent and have always had to work full time hours a week to sup-
poi t myself and my child. My only son Steven is severely handicapped due to being
developinemally delayed as a result of his cerebral cortex not developing properly.
Steven is 12 years old. Although he has no verbal language, Steven communicates
through the use of a notebook type binder which contains approximately 18 pages of
picture/word combinations and words without pictures. He is learning to make very
short sentences by stringing 3 to 6 words together. Four years ago when Steven was
eight years old, Steven had no means of communication, except to laugh, cry and
tantrum. Since Spring of 1982, Steven's physical development 12111 progressed from
learning to crawl on his hands and knees to side stepping the length of a tablet; then
to walking with a walker. He can now walk holding my hand and just a few months
ago he began taking some independent steps. Steven is incontinent and we have
been unsuccessful in our attempts to toilet training him. Without a continued, struc-
tured, and repetitive program, Steven is subject to behavorial outbursts aid regres-
sion.

During Steven's preschool years from age three to five, his progress was slow but
steady thanks to a 12 month education provided through the Head Start Program.
An example of the benefits of a 12 month program was that at age five when he left
the program, he could stand and hold onto a little walker and move it a couple of
taps. However, when he entered public school he was only provided nine months of
;pool with no provisions for the summer months. As a nsequence after he left

tile 12 month Head Start Program, all of the learning Ster n achieved from Septem-
ber to May was lost during each summer. For example, he was not able to walk
with the aid of the walker again until he was ten years old.

In September, 1980, I asked my son's school to provide a 12 month school program
for Steven. When officials refused, I obtained legal representation and we pursued
the state administre five avenues provided by the Act. It was not until nine months
later, jus: as school was ending in May, that our case was hoard by a state hearing
officer. Evidence was presented during a two day trial. Both the school and I were
represented by legal counsel. Although the Jecisyni was not rendered until the end
of 1981, more than a year after I requested summer schooling, the ruling was favor-
able to Steven. We had received what I nad contended from the beginning was due
my eon under Federal law.

Our success, however, was short lived. In February, 1982, the school district filed
suit in federal distri, court seeking review of the state education ag,ncy's ruling.
Two years later I was .,ace again awarded the relief I requested back in 1980. How-
ever, in the process of defending the state's ruling and this relief, my attorneys u-
pended numerous hours briefing issues which the judge "imself characterised as nu-
merous and complex. During the course of litigation, my lawyers were successful in
getting a prelimLnary injunction requiring the school to give my son summer school
for the summer of 1983. However, this was only after the court heard five days of
evidence, mostly from experts, and required legal briefing on r amorous procedural

iand substantive issues.
In early summer of 1984, the fads .n1 court upheld the state's decision and after

finding that I was the prevailing party found that I should be awarded my attor-
ney's fees. However, before the Court was able to detenr.ne the amount of such an
award and enter an order, the Supreme Court decided in Stith v. Robinson, that
because Congress did not expressly state that fees were available to parties who pre-
vailed in litigation under the EAHCA, none could be granted. Because of this deci-
sion. my attorneys were not awarded their fee by the federal court. Unfortunately,
but pred!-tably, the school has appealed the district court's ,rder affirming the state
agency's decision requiring summer school to be provided. Regardless of the appeal,
I anticipate further legal battles prior to every summer session.

I am I-ere today because I am concerned not only for what lies ahead in my case,
but ' r those parents yet to come who may ho faced with problems that cannot be
resoived between the parents and school officials. I am convinced that without tt s
Act being amended to include a reasonable award of attorney's fees to prevailing
parties in any action dealing with the EAHCA, rents will be unable to challenge
their schcri district's decisions and the Act will become an empty promise to the
handicapped children of America.

Although a parent knows their child's inaividual needs, their knowledge and com-
passion do little good in the legal proceedings built into the EAHCA, when a school
Aktrict, attempts to escape its responsibility to educate a handicapped child. We are

equipped with law degrees or the experience that "r,,a is with being a lawyer.
We are ignorant regarding procedural rules. We are no help to the courts in re-
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marching cases or in interpreting and applying the law to the difficult questions
posed by our cases. The courts re heavily on the lawyers to brief cases and legal
issues; a task which s parent would be helpless to perform.

Also, at the Administrative level, which is mandatory and critical, the school dis-
trict will always be represented by counsel. Issues are no lees complex and evidence
no lees important than before a court. Without an attorney parents have little
chance of prevailing despite the merits of their case. I cannot conceive of a parent
attempting to bring a case before a state agency or federal court alone.

The injustice faced by parents without attorneys is especially severe in a case likemine where the parent prevails at the administrative level. I was satisfied with thedecision of the state education agency. I did not file a lawsuit in federal court; the
school did. They have r ^c stopped appealing and they won't. There is no incentivefor them not t.. I would ask that you think about the stubborness of this school
district in Texas and about the children who one day may have their rights under
the law violated. Each of you should consider whether any attorneys in your district
would be willing or able to become involved in a long, complex, and emotional case,
knowing that even if they prevail that they would not be paid for many hours and
years of labor. In my particular case, my attorneys have spent over 700 hours fromthe fall of 198C to the prment. These concerns are clearly spelled out in a letterwhich I would like to submit to all ofyou which my attorney wrote to Congressman
Bartlett at his request. The letter discusses the amount of hours spent by my lawyerboth at the administrative level and in district court, as well as some of his own
concerns involving the Act.

Finally, I think it is important to emphasize that amendment of the Act will not
necessitate any additional federal spending. What the amendment seeks is an awardagainst the local school district when a nt prevails. Enforcement of a federallaw is thereby accomplished without spen a single federal dollar.

By its actions one can see that this school in Texas has expended an enor-
mous amount of money paying its attorneys to avoid providing the education or-dered by the Hearing Officer, the Commissioner of Education, the United States
Magistrate and the Federal Judge, for my son, Steven. I can tell you from my expe-
rience that some scLool districts will not provide adequate educational programs
unlesb forced to do so.

I an grateful to all of you in allowing me to be here today. I am hopeful that my
experience will cause all of you to become convinced that amendment of the Actand guarantee of fees to legal representatives is eeeentii 1 to continaed vitality of the
Education of All Handicapped Children's Mt.

Thank you Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee.
Mr. WILLIAMS. Thank you very much, Ms. Galarza, that was a

frank and forceful statement and we are indebted to you for travel-ing here today.
Before we recognize Ms. Roberts, I want to turn the gavel briefly

over to our colleague from New York, Mr. Ririe. That will allow
me to visit with some of my constituents who have been waiting
patiently for 20 minutes. I will return in just a few minutes.

I understand, also, Mr. 1440ggi, thai. you have an opening state-
ment which you may wish to give at this time.

Mr. BIAGGI [presiding]. Perhaps I will take advantage of this op-
portunity to make some remarks. A!,houg.._ I wasn't here at the
outset, we have been thoroughly conversant with this isste and
have been involved in the origination of the legislation.

I think the Supreme Court decision is unfortunate. They clearly
misread the intent of Congress. I guess I am one of the survivors
after 10 years of the effect of this legislation. We have seen it work.We saw the problems; we saw the abuses at a time when civil
rights were critical for all people. Now we witness the Su reme
Court making a decision that would impede and diminish the
intent of the Confr ess.

I also see a division in the community which was never the
intent, nor was in existence when the original legislation was en-
acted. The beneficiaries, as we saw it some 10 years ago, would be
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the children. That intent has not diminished one bit, the Supreme
Court notwithstanding. That is why we are here today dealing with
this legislation, to try ts, restate the intent of the Congress.

I think it is unfortunate. We have had some 4 million young
folks who have had the protection of this act and we intend for it
to continue.

I will be hearing from Ms. Roberts in a little bit; we heard the
previous witness, but these are just illustrations. They are not new
to me.

We hear them on a day-to-day basis and I think if we don't
pursue the original intent of the authors of this legislation, we
break faith with the principle of access and with the civil rights. I
see this division. Some say, yes, there sir ild be legislation the at-
torney's fees paid for judicial. How about. the primary stages'? Oft-
times, the problem is resolved in the primary stages and school dis-
tricts have attorneys present, whereas the parent does not.

I don't haN e to tell you from a practical perspective just what a
lopsided situation that can be. But even more importantly, we must
understand what is your predisposition? Are you supportive of the
children or aren't you? If you are going to start mating divisions
and rationalizing and m-king exceptions and distinctions, then I
question, from the school community at least, that full commit-
ment to this legislation in its original intent.

W e are proceeding in a bipartisan basis and I hope we continue
in this direction, but I have my own apprehensions. I see it divid-
ing. The advocates take one position, which I support most vigor-
ously, and they are keeping faith, whether it be for themselves or
for the cause. They are keeping faith with the intent of this legisla-
tion.

The school coinmunity, the school boards who were supportive
originally seem to be begging the issue in my judgment. Either you
are going to give protection or you don't give protection. You don't
give part-time justice. You don't give selective due process.

If you are talking about civil rights, well. then, talk about it in
its full panoply of protections.

We take a dim viewor at least, I doof any diminution of the
intent of this legislation. I am just delighted to be here with my
colleagues to address ourselves to the question. Hopefully, we will
be able to rehabilitate the legislation so that we can provide the
full protection, to Mr. Bartlett, who feels very sincerely about this,
and Mr. Williams, and all of my colleagues.

I don't know where the pressures are going to come from, where
the division takes place, but for thog4 of you who think you only
Deed assistance in the courts, let me tell you: Put yourself in this
position; put yourself in the position of the parents with the chil-
dren who need help, who are not wealthy, and who need the kind
of protection that this legislation would give. If you can then say,
"Well, yes, let's deal with the courts," then proceed. At least I will
respect your commitment, but I doubt very much you would say
that if you were in that position.

Don't tell me about your obligation to your financial community,
to your educational system; tell me about the obligation to these
young children and their parents. We all understand what happen
in politics and politics runs across the whole spectrum of American
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living, education community notwithstanding. Talk honestly to theissue.
Some people may have taken a different viewwell, you havesaid it, but I am telling you where I am, and I am vigorously there.I will oppose any erosion of the legislation that we enacted and anyattempt to diminish it.
[Prepared statement of Mario Biaggi follow::]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. MAIII0 BIAGGI, A ReintleiNTATive IN CONORZIS FROM
THE STATE or NEW YORE

Mr. Chairman, I commend you for calling this hearing today to review the Handi-
capped Children's Protection Act. I also want to commend you and our ranking Re-publican member, Steve Bartlett, for your efforts to address this isms in a biparti-san : *ion.

Having served en this committee for 14 yearsI want to state at the outset that Ibelieve this to be the most important issue that this subcommittee will address inthis Congress.
Why? Because the Supreme Court's decision last year in Smith v. Robinson was afrontei assault on the civil rights of handicapped children in special education.To the-, of us who were involved in crafting P.L. 94-142 some ten years egoweviewed tnis decision as a serious misinterpretation of congressional intent in creat-ing this landmark legislation.
I recall when this subcommittee received testimony from parents and educatorswho told us about the treatment of handicapped children in schoolsthat they wereviewed as second class citizenswith second class status.The passage of P.L. 94-142 was a response to those horror eyries. We recognizedthat full educational opportunity was nIt:tetuht of alland that the civil rights ofthese handicapped student* had to be p
Since passage of this legislation-4 million children have received e benefits. Ibelieve that the issues that brought us to craft this legislation a decade agocontin-ue to remain issues that confront us today. Chronic underfimding of this programby Congresshas placed added strains upon school systems.
Howeverwe can not throw out the baby with the bath water. The SupremeCourt's decision should not be viewed as an opportunity for us to backtrack on civiland educational rights for handicapped children. Nor should it be the reason tha'we tamper with a program which has served as a beacon of hope and opportunityit,r handicapped children and their parents.
We cannotallow low-income parents to be denied fulland completeacme tojustice under P.L. 94-142. Failure to peas a bill that reverses Smith v. Robinson willdo just that. This subcommitteein its long and distinguished history of advocacyfor the disabled and handicappedmust continue to provide leadership in this area.It is critical that we continue to assure parentsthe right to be reimbursed forthe costs of protecting their children's rights under the law. In niy own city of NewYorkthe landmark Jose P. casewhich ordered the New York City School Systemto provide children with special education servicesawarded fees to parents. SinceSmith v. RobinsonNo fees have been awarded. The civil rights of the 111,000 stu-dents now receiving services under the Jose P. mandate are severely jeopardized.One of our witnesses todayDiana Roberta will provide us with a personal un-derstanding of how important it is that we work to pass legislation that will reversethis decision.
I welcome the opportunity to work with you, Mr. Chairman, in your new capacity,in seeking to address this problem in a timely and appropriate fashion.
Mr. BIAGGI. Let me settle down now.
Ms. Roberts.

STATEMENTS OF DIANA ROBERTS, A PARENT REPRESENTING
'IE CONSORTIUM FOR CITIZENS WITH DEVELOPMENTAL DIS-
ABILITIES, ACCOMPANIED BY JOAN HERRINGTON, A PARENT
Ms. ROBERTS. Congressman, I am Diana Roberts from New YorkCity. I am the parent of three children, all of whom attend New

York City public schools. My middle child, Sharon, who is almost11 years old, was born with the genetic disorder called Downs Syn-
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drome. Sharon also has vision and honing deficiencies. She cur-
rently attends a special education program at P.S. 46, Queens. She
receives the related services of speech and language therapy three
times a week, occupational therapy two times a week and shortly,
we hope, itinerant hearing services.

I have been involved in parent organizations since Sharon's
birth. I am currently the chairperson of Region 3, Queens County
Council on Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities.
The thoughts I will share with you today reflect the frustrations of
many parents seeking an appropriate education for their children.

I would like to thank you for this opportunity to testify on the
critical issue of the adverse impact of the Supreme Court's decision
in Smith v. Robinson on handicapped children and their families.

I am testifying on behalf of the Edvational Task Force of the
Consortium for Citizens with Developmental Disabilities, CCDD.
This task force represents teachers, parents, administrators, uni-
versity professors, providers of related services, and handicapped
children and youth who share a common bond of commitment to
the full implementation of Public Law 94-142, the Education for
All Handicapped Children's Act.

Though I sit before you today as the parent of Sharon, I am rep-
resenting the 4 million handicapped children who are currently
benefiting from the Federal mandate of free appropriate public
education.

In 1979, at the age of 5, Sharon entered the public school system
in a special education classroom. During a parent/t cher confer-
ence, it was mutually agreed Sharon would benefit from occupa-
tional therapy to in.orove her manual skills. This would have been
a continuation of services she had received in her preschool. Her
pediatricians, her child development specialist, her kindergarten
teacher, all concurred with this recommendation.

My local committee on the handica agreed and hated the oc-
cupational therapy on Sharon's 'EP. " en Sharon did not receive
the service, I petitioned the board of education for an impartial
hearing in the spring of 1981. Since there was no dispute of the
facts, I entered into a stipulation agreement with the board guar-
anteeing that Sharon would receive occupational therapy three
times a week and speech therapy three times a week.

I was relieved that Sharon would finally be receiving services.
However, to my dismay, services were still not being provided in a
consistent manner.

The Jose P. v. Ambach litigation was initiated in 1979 on behalf
of the thousands of handicapped children like Sharon who were not
receiving an appropriate education as required by the Federal law.
On December 14, 1979, Judge Eugene Nickerson entered a judg-
ment finding New York State ar.41 the city education authorities in
violation of Federal law and State mandates.

The New York State Commissioner of Education had issued four
separate orders attempting to bring the New York City Board of
Education into compliance, and even withheld Federal funds, all to
no avail. In Sharon'il case, it took from October 1979 to the spring
of 1982 before the board of education provided the services.

My husband and I could not afford a private attorney to help us
obtain these services due to Sharon's many medical problems. We
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are convinced that Sharon only received the services because of theJose P. litigation.
Even with the results of the Jose P. decision, I struggled for 2years through a tangled web of bureaucracy to obtain the neces-sary services for my daughter. It was never easy on the well-being

of my family. Sharon has been receiving occupational therapy for 2years and continues to become more active and alert as a result ofunproved skills.
As a result of the Jose P. decision, the number of children receiv-ing special education increased from 40,000 to 111,000. There arenow over 33,000 handicapped children receiving related serviceswhich enable them to benefit from their s education.Judge Nickerson found defendants le for attorneys' fees inJanuary of 1980 t' id such fees have been paid by the city each yearthrough April 1:-.64 as part of the costs of continued legal represen-tation of the class of handicapped children to be served under a re-medial plan required by the court.
Presently, the attorneys representing the class of handicapped

children meet every other week with the city's attorneys and with
the representatives of the board of education for a full day ofreview and negotiations. No fees have been awarded since the
Court's decision in Smith v. Robinson.

All parties agree that the Jose P. legal action has created criti-cally needed educational opportunities for the children in NewYork City. Without future reimbursement for the continued legal
representation for Sharon and thousands of public children likeher in New York City, I cannot be assured of continued appropri-
ate educational services.

Sharon's story is just one among several situations included in
our written testimony that dramatize the immediate need for Con-gress to enact legislation to restore the protections afforded to
handicapped children prior to the Smith v. Robinson decision.

As a parent, it is not easy to question a school district's services
while enduring all that exists in the caring of a handicapped child.
Parents feel ill-equipped to enforce the rights of their handicapped
children under Public Law 94-142. By denying reimbursement of
my attorney's feed in the future, I feel that my capacity to exercise
these rights has been severely diminished.

Further, I face serious personal indebtedness in my attempt to
ensure for my child what parents of nonhandicapped children takefor granted; namely, a free and appropriate public education.

On behalf of CCDD education task force, we applaud your effortsin introducing this legislation. The CCDD education task force be-lieves that these amendments to Public Law 94-142 should be for
the limited purpose of clarifying what has always been the intent
of Congress, to protect the educational rights of handicapped chil-dren.

We support amending Public Law 94-142 to make the award ofattorney's fees available to parents who prevail in these actions
and proceedings. On behalf of the CCDD educa+ion task force, wesupport your effort to clarify the fact that Congress intended
Public Law 94-142 and section 504 to be alternative means of pro-tection for handicapped children.
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The CCDD education task force also supports your efforts to
make available for public review the decisions which result from
impartial administrative hearings at the local and State level with
due protection for individual privacy.

Although the CCDD education task force supports the direction
and goals of these amendments, we have three strong reservations.
No. 1, in section 2(b), you clarify the intent of Congress to protect
the educational r;rlits of handicapped children or youth who have
a parent or a gut lian. The admission of coverage for handicapped
children or youth who do not have a parent or guardian, but are,
in fact, wards of the State leaves unprotected the most vulnerable
population. We would suggest that by adding coverage for legal
representative, these children would have greater protection, that
their individual education needs would be met and ensure coverage
for actions brought by nonprofit organizations on their behalf.

No. 2, we are concerned that your proposal would permit the re-
imbursement for legal representation to only court proceedings and
not for costs associated with the administrative hearing. Prior to
the court's decision in Smith v. Robinson, courts on occasion
awarded attorney's fees to parents, including administrative hear-
ing osts.

If
c
the intent of this legislation is to restore remedies that existed

prior to the court's decision, then section 2(b) should be amended to
include in any administrative proceeding as well.

Three, finally, although we agree with the objective of creating
opportunities for early resolution of disputes between parents and
the school system, section 4(b) as written could impose new hard-
ships on parents. One can't legislate cooperation. If a local educa-
tional agency is unwilling to meet with a parent, what possibilities
are there for a resolution of differences by an unwilling party?

The proposed amendment does note x*in what is meant by "in-
formally.' Is a record kept that will be used by the LEA attorney
in the administrative hearing? Will there be a negotiator to medi-
ate between the two parties? Who will be authorized to be present
in the informal hearing?

In conclusion, in 1975, Congress took a bold step to guarantee the
rights of and protections for the education of handicapped children.
Today, parents, educators and school administrators agree that the
impact of Public Law 94-142 has been overwhelmingly positive.

For most handicapped children and their families, the promises
of the Federal mandate have become critical civil rights that have
opened the doors of educational opportunity. The chilling effect of
the Smith v. Robinson decision is to close the door to all but
wealthy parents and deny access to justice to all others.

On this, the 10th anniversary of the Education for All Handi-
capped Children's Act, as a parent, I ask you to continue your com-
mitment to handicapped children and their families.

[Prepared statement of Diana Roberts follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT PRESENTED DT DIANA ROBERTS, PARENT, New YORK CITY, ON
BEHALF OF THE CONSORTIUM POE CITIZENS WITH DEVELOPMENTAL DISABILITIES TASK
FORCE ON EDUCATION, ET AL.

Mr. Chairman, I a- Diana Roberta from New York City. I am the parent of three
children all of whon end New York City public schools. My middle child Sharon,
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who is almost 11 years old, was born with a genetic disorder called Downs Syn-
drome. Sharon also has vision and hearing deficiencies. She currently attends a spa-
cial education program called the modified instructional services 1 program at PS
46 Queens. She receives the related services of speech and language therapy three
times a week as well as occupational therapy two times a week, and we anticipate
itinerant hearing services very soon.

I have been involved in parent organizations since Sharon's birth. Sharon began
receiving specialized instruction when she was six months old. I am currently the
Chairperson of Regior_ 8, Queens County New York Coancil on Mental Retardation
and Developmental Disabilities. The thoughts I will share with you today reflect the
frustrations of many parents seeking an appropriate education for their children. I
would like to thank you for this opportunity to testify on the critical issue of the
adverse impact of the Supreme Court's decision in Smith v. Robinson on handi-
capped children and their families.

I am on behalf of the Education Task Force of the Consortium for Citi-
zens with Dove opmental Disabilities (CCDD). The CCDD Education Task Force is
comprised of a number of major national organizations who are concerned about the
provision of quality special education and related services to our nation's handi-
capped children. These organizations representing teachers, parents, administrators,
university professors, providers of related services,

i
and handicapped children and

youth share a common bond of commitment to the full implementation of P.L. 94-
142, the "Education For All Handicapped Children's Act."

Though I sit before you today as a parent of Sharon, I am representing the four
million handicapped children who are currently benefitting from the man-
date of a free appropriate public education. Our children's greatest hope for im-
provement comes when they are provided appropriate educational opportunities. I
fought for and won appropriate services for my daughter and have seen he
progress from an awkward child with limited manual dexterity to a child who grows
increasingly more independent and is proud of hor accompmenbs. I want to tell
you briefly my story and the psychological im that the Supreme Court's decision
in Smith v. Robinson has imposed on my

In 1979, at age five, Sharon entered the school system in a special educa-
tion classroom. During a parent-teacher co nce in October 1979, it was mutually
agreed that Sharon would benefit from occupational therapy to improve hermanual
skills. This would have been a continuation of the services she received in her pre-
school. Her pediatricians and her child development specialist along with her kin-
dergarten teacher concurred with this recommendation. My local committee on the
handicapped agreed and listed the occupational therapy service on her IEP. When
Sharon dm' not recerm th:" service, I petitioned the Board of Education for an impar-
tial hearing in the Spring of 1981. Since there was no dispute of the facts, I entered
into a stipulation agreement with the Board guaranteeiag that Sharon would re-
ceive occupational therapy three times a week. I was relieved that Sharon would
finally be receiving services. However, to my dismay, services were still not being
provided in a consistent manner.

In 1979, Sharon was one of over 100,000 children with developmental disabilities
in New York City who either were waiting for evaluations, were not receiving relat-
ed services identified as needed by the school, or who a are not in appropriate educa-
tional placements.

The Jose P. v. Ambach litigation was initiated in 1979 on behalf of the thousands
of handicapped children who were not receiving an appropriate public education asrequired by federal law. On December 14, 1979, Judge Etigene Nickerson en-
tered a judgment finding New York State and the city education authorities in vio-
lation of federal and state mandates and ordered them to come into compliance with
the federal law.

In Sharon's case, it took from October 1979 to the Spring of 1982 before Tbs
Board of Education provided the services. My husband and I could not afford a pri-
vate attorney to help us obtain these services due to Sharon's many medical needs.
We are convinced that Sharon only received the services because of the Jose P. liti-
gation.

Even with the results of the Jose P. decision, I struggled for over two years
through a tangled web of bureaucracy to obtain the necessary services for my
daughter. It was never easy on the web-being of my family. Sharon has ? v receiv-
ing occupational therapy for two years and continues to become more a ive and
alert as a result of her unproved skills.

Prior to the initiation of the court action in New York City, thousands of children
wars on waiting-lists for evaluation and placement, although for eight years parent,.,
hat'. attempted to remedy the system through administrative avenues. The New
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York State Commissioner of Education had issued four separate orders attempting
to bring the New York City Board of Education into compliance and even witFiheld
federal funds, all to no avail.

Few children were receiving related services such as physical and occupational
therapy and counseling. The overwhelming majority of children had no individual
education program (IEP) required by the federal mandate, and placements were reg-
ularly made without parental participation in the decision-making process.

As a result of the Jose P. decision, the number of children receiving special educa-
tion increased from 40,000 to 111,000. For the first time, a cc-stinuum of services has
been created which includes the least restrictive placement options for handicapped
chldren including over 80,000 children served in resource rooms, a program which
did not exist prior to the lawsuit. For the first time, handicapped children are pro-
vided with invaluable opportunities for social interaction and growth. The Board of
Education procedures have been changed to include parents in the referral, evalua-
tion, and IRP process. Architectural barriers have been removed in over 50 school
buildings and steady progress is being made toward creating another 60 accessible
schools. There are now over ,000 handicapped children receiving related services
which enables them to benefit from their specialized education.

Judge Nickerecn found defendants liable for attorneys' fees in January 1980, and
such fees have been paid by the city each year through April 1984 as pert of the
costs of continued legal representation of the class of handicapped children to be
served under the remedial plan required by the court.

Preeent:y, the attorney,s representing the class of handicapped children meet
every other week with the city's attorneys and the representatives of the Board of
Education for a full day of review and negotiations. No fees have been awarded
since the Court's decision in Smith v. Robinson. All that the Jose P.
legal action has steel critically needed educational ties for the children
in New York City. Without future reimbursement for continued legal represen-
tation of Sharon and thousands of other children like her in New York City, I
cannot be assured of continued appropriate educational seriime.

I want to tell you also about Barry, Amber, and Robinthree children who con-
tinue to struggle along with their families as a result of the burden imposed by the
Court's decision.

When Barry's pa..,nts attempted to enroll their son in public school at five in
Savannah, Georgia, they were told he was too handicapped and not ellblle for a
public school program. It was not until age nine in Savannah, Georiga, after passage
of Congress of P.L. 94-142, that Barry was finally admitted to a special education

. Barry is severely mentally retarded with mobility and communication dif-
ficulties.el. Barry's parents asked for the continuation of speech and physical the
services during the summer months. They were told that regarding of Barry's
vidual educational needs, there was a statewide policy in effect that limited special
education services to nine months a year. Barry's parents asked for an impartial
hearir.g. Despite the federal mandate requiring the development of an educational
program based on individual needs, the hearing officer rejected consideration of
Barry's needs citing the fact that state policies do not require provision of extended
school year services. Barry's parents felt that they had two options. Barry could be
removed from the home and placed in the most restrictive setting of a state institu-
tion at huge and unwarranted costs to receive services year round, or they could
challenge the state policy in court. Barry's parents could not afford legal representa-
tion, but recognized that the issue of extended school year services affected thou-
sands of children across the state. The Georgia Association For Retarded Citizens
filed a court action on behalf of Barry and other handicapped children in 1979.
After favorable decisions at the district court level, the Court of Appeals, and last
month the Supreme Court, the statewide policy of limiting related services to nine
months a year has been invalidated. Unfortunately, the five year protract i court
proceedings with appeals at every level by the state and local educational agency,
had its impact on Barry's family. Interne public scrutiny and harassment from
school officials and the press contributed to Barry's parents divorce and his subse-
quent placement in an institution.

Because of the Smith v. Robinson decision, Barry's legal representative was not
able to recover attorneys' fees despite the fact that they prevailed. This then places
a severe economic burden on the parents who make up this nonprofit organization.
It should be understood that nonprofit organizations supporting parents in enforcing
their rights under P.L. 94-142 do not retain any of the fees awarded to prevailing
parties do P.L. 94-142 cases.

Amber is a nine-year-old child with spina bifida attending a public education pro-
gram in Texas. Eight months ago, the United States Supreme Court decided that
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catherization services must be provided tc, Amber so that she could attend school
and receive the benefits of a public education. The Supreme Court decided that
"services like catherization that permit a chlia to remain at school during the day
are no lees related to the effort to educate than are services that enable the child to
reach, enter, or exit the school." Despite favorable decisions for Amber from the dis-
trict court, and Court of Appeals, the Irving Independent School District continued
their challenges to the Supreme Court.

Although the Supreme Court finally ruled in Amber's favor, her tingly was
denied the award of attorneys' fees because of the Smith v. Robinson decision.
Amber's family owes her legal representatives over fifty thousand dollars and now
faces the prospect of lifelong debt as a result of their successful battle to enforce
Amber's rights under P.L. 94-142.

Robin is a twelve year old child in a self-contained program for children with
autism in Seattle, Washington. Robin's parents, al several other families
whose children are in the program, have unsu during the pest six months
sought as a less restrictive placement option that aff some opportunity for social
interaction with nonhandicapped children. They have considered legal action, but
even as a group of families they lack sufficent financial resources to move ahead
with no prospect of being reimbursed in the future if they prevail in court as a
result of the Smith v. Robinson decision. Although Robins wear feel strongly
their son's educational rights under P.L. 94-142 are being violated, their ability to
remedy the situation has been eliminated.

These are three among many situations that dramatize the immediate need for
Congress to enact legislation to restore the protections afforded handicapped chil-
dren prior to the Smith v. Robinson decision.

It is important for the Subcommittee to realize that the Court's decision places
the enforcement and protection of the educational rights of handicapped cls'idren in
serious jeopardy. Not only did the Court's decision determine that P.L. 94-142 does
not allow the award of attorneys' fees to parents who as a last resort have gone to
court to enforce their child's right to a free appropriate public education, but also
for the first time that Section 604 does not offer protections generally assumed to be
available to handicapped children.

As a parent, i. is not easy to question a school district's services, while enduring
all that exists in the caring for a handicapiped child. Parents feel ill equipped to
enforce the rights of their handicapped children under P.L. 94-142. By denying re-
imbursement of my attorney's fees in the future, I feel that my capacity to exercise
these rights has been severely diminished. Further, I face serious personal indebted-
ness in my attempt to insure for my child what parents of nonnandicapped children
take for granted, namely a free and appropriate public education.

On behalf of CCDD Education Task Force, we applaud your effects in introducing
this legislation which will have a direct impact on handicapped children and their
families. The CCDD Education Task Force believes that these amendments to P.L.
94-142 should be for the limited purpose of clarifying what has always_ been the
intent of Conic4sto protect the educational rights of handicapped children. We
support amen P.L. 94-142 to make the award of attorney's fees available to par-
ents who prevail in these actions and p

It is important to note that Congressmhcaseecaltrorzed reimbursement for legal rep-
resentation in virtually all civil rights actions brought under federal law. It certain-
ly was not the intent of Congress to leave unprotected the civil rights claims of
handicapped children seeking opportunities to learn and better develop their poten-
tial. Before the Smith v. Robinson decision, the potential of a parent to seek court
action to protect their child's right to a free appropriate public education had a sig-
nificant impact on a school system's level of responsiveness to meeting the educa-
tional needs of a child. After the Supreme Court's decision, the potential of court
intervention is lost to most parents of handicapped children. Most parents of handi-
capped children face difficult economic situations that prevent the hiring of legal
counsel. Unfortunately, educational rights established under P.L 94-142 and Sec-
tion 504 become empty promises without enforcement.

The authorization of the reimbursement for legal representation to a prevailing
party is not unique. There are ctirrently over 90 separate reimbursement for legal
representation provisions to promote enforcement of over 90 different federal laws.
Your Amendments represent a compromise. Reimbursement will only be available
to _parents who prevail in court and 13V6.1 then at the judge's discretion.

Despite claims to the contrm, we believe these Amendments will have the effect
of reducing litigation under EHA. A recent Rand Corporation study by their Insti-
tute for Civil Justice found that fewer than one percent of all children served under
EHA became the subject of a formal dispute and that the ability of parents to liti-
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gate is a major incentive for school systems to resolve disputes at the administrative
level and avoid the high cost of i.eigation.

On behalf of the CCDD Education Task Force, we support your effort to clarify
the fact that Congress intended P.L. 94-142 and Section 504 to be alternative means
of protection for handicapped children. By reestablishing the complimentary rela-
tionship between P.L. 94-142 and Section 604 that was in existence prior to the
Smith v. Robinson decision, you have reaffirmed the role of the Office for Civil
Rights in investipting and resolving complaints concerning the provision of a free
appropriate public education in primary, secondary and vocational education pro-
grams. As a result of this clarification, there should be no question about the intent
of Congress to guarantee to handicapped children the civil rights which are avail-
able to the rest of our nation's citizens.

The CCDD Education Task Force supports your effort to make available for public
review the decisions which result from impartial administrative hearings at the
local and state level with due protection for individual privacy. This amendment
should help encourage earlier resolution of disputes between parents and school sys-
tons and improve the substantive and procedural quality of administrative hearings
and reviews under the Act. We believe that this public access provision will enhance
the ability of all concerned parties to monitor the provision of a fee appropriate
public education for all handicapped children.

Although the CCDD Education Task Force supports the direction and goals of
there Amendments, we have three strong reservations.

1. In Section 2 (B) you clarify the intent of Congress to protect the educational
rights of handicapped children or youth who have a parent oeguardian. The omit
sion of coverage for handicapped children or youth who do not have a parent or
guardian, but are in fact wards of the state, leaves unprotected the most vulnerable
population. Children who are wards of the state are least able to assert their right
to a free appropriate education. The state is also the most unlikely party to articu-
late the unmet educational needs of handicapped children who are wards of the
state when meeting such needs will be costly and show that they are out of
ante with the federal mandate. We would suggest that, by adding coverage for legal
representatives, these children would have greater protection that their individual
education needs would be met.

2. We are concerned that your proposal which would limit reimbursement for
legal representation to only court pros aftp and not for costs associated with the
administrative hearing. Prior to the Court's &anon in Smith v. Robinson, courts on
rare occasions awarded attorneys' fees to parents including administrative hearing
costs when the court felt that the school system's position was totally .addw in
merit. This serves as an incentive to school systems to settle disputes at the earliest
possible time. If the intent of this legislation is to restore remedies that sedated
prior to the Court's decision, then Section 2 (B) should be amended to include in any
administrative proceeding as well.

3. Finally, although we agree with the objective of creating opportunities for earli-
er resolution of disputes between parents and school system, Section 4 (B) as written
could impose new Winking on parents.

One can't legislate coorration. If a local educational agency is unwilling to meet
with a parent, what possibilities are there for a resolution of differences by an un-
willing party? The proposed amendment does not explain what is meant by meeting
informally. Is a remd kept that will be used by the LEA attorney in the stIminis-
trative hearing? Will there be a negotiator to mediate between the two parties?
Who will be authorized to be present at the informal meeting? What =cents will
be available to the parent who is not provided an opportunity for an informal meet-
ing because the LEA refuses to participate? It is essential that the timeliness of the
procedural safeguards section not be undercut by this meeting.

In 1975, Congress took a bold step to guarantee the rights of and protections for
the education of handicapped children. Today, parents, educators, and school admin-
istrators agree that the impact of P.L. 94-142 has been overwhelmingly positive. For
most handicapped children and their families, the promises of the fral mandate
have become critical civil rights that have opened'the doors of educational opportu-
nity. The chilling effect of thSmith v. Robinson decision is to close that door to all
but wealthy parents and deny access to justice to all others.

We urge the Congress to move ahead and pass legislation that responds to the
specific issues rued by the Supreme Court in Smith v. Robinson. As stated by Jus-
tice Brennan in his dissent to the Court's decision, "Congress will have to take the
time to revisit the matter Until it does, the handicapped children of this country
whose difficulties are compounded by discrir.,ination and other deprivations of con-
stitutional rights will have to pay the costr. It is at best ironic that the Court man-
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aged to impose this burden on handicapped children iu the course of interpreting a
statute wholly intendead to promote the educational rights of those children." On
this, the tenth anniversary of the enactment of the "Education for All Handicapped
Children's Act", as a parent, I ask you to continue your commitment to handicapped
children and their families.

Mr. WILLMS. Thank you very much.
Mr. Bartlett
Mr. Badman. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Ms. Galarza, first of all, I want to publicly thank you, as I have

in the past, for your insistence and your sincerity, and today, in
particular, your articulation of the issues. It was in many ways
your persistence and your ability to cut through the legalese that
has helped many Members of this Congress to come to where we
are today. I personally have a great deal of gratitude to you for
what you Live done on this issue, both with regard to your own
child, as well as changing the law.

I think we have included the letter that your attorney had
shared with me and we will include that in the hearing record
today.

I do have a concernand I just want you to reaffirmyour at-
torney told me on the telephone thatI was very concerned, as you
know, about the time limit, the intent of the due process, or the
administrative hearings process, is hat, in layman's terms, is that
a parent be afforded an informal ant: a timely administrative hear-
ing with a chance for an appeal one step up to the State Education
Agency and clearly have a set of very narrow time limits.

I think one of them is 45 days at the most, and yet, you began
the process in September 1980. You didn't get your hearing until
May 1981. It was a 2-day hearing and then you didn't get a judg-
ment until December 1982 and then the school district filed suit on
you in FebruaryI am sorry, December 1981, 9 months later.

Your attorney has told me that he is satisfied that one of the
issues in your case resolved that time limit for certain. That is to
say, that no additional Federal laws are required to ensure that a
future parent would have a narrow time limit. Are you satisfied as
to that? It seems to me that the biggest burden you had to carry
was that you won at every step of the process, but your child, after
4 years or longer, was still not afforded what you were legally enti-
tled to.

Ms. GALARZA. Yes; I can clarify what happened in that process.
When the school first denied the services in September, my attor-
ney began negotiations between himself and myself and the school
district to try to negotiate this and work out a settlement before we
had to go before a due process hearing. He was optimistic that he
thought that it could be reached because he thought that this was
something that the law provided for, that there was really no ques-
tion. He was not familiar with the Education of All Handicapped
Children's Act and to address that for himself and it took 7 months
before we realized that the school was not going to settle with us.

So that is where that timeframe is; we tried to negotiate and
were unsuccessful, so we asked for the due process hearing.

Mr. Barrirrr. But then in May 1981, you received your due proc-
ess hearing. Tell us what kept you from getting a decision until De-
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cember 1981 because the law clearly provides for a 45-day time
limit.

Me. GALA What may have happened, and I am not sure if
this is the Aver, is that we were caught up in a procedural
chqnge. W} 1 the hearing officer made his proposal for decision, it
was sent to the commission of education. Then he h'd to rule on it
because the school didn't agree with the hearing officer. When the
commissioner of education entered his order, but at that very time,
right after he did, the procedure changed to where whatever the
hearing officer's determination, it would be the final step. So they
remanded back to the hearing officer so it took some time in there
when we got caught up in these procedural changes.

Mr. &mum. Ms. Galarza, I have visited with the chairman, the
sponsor of the bill, on this and we want to be very, very careful,
either within this statute or in the -zeport language, that we make
it clear that when the statute says 45 days and then 30 days, that
that is what the intent is and not a stretched-out period of time
waiting for people to make decisions.

It Congress' intent that it would be made within a matter of
days within the time that 1 he administrative hearing is held, and I
do appreciate you and your attorney providing us with the infor-
mation as to what happened in that case so we can build into
either the law or the legislative record to make sure that it does
not happen with future cases.

It sounds as if we had a mediation or an informalyou had me-
diation or you had informal exchangesif we had that component
in this bill, it may not have helped you in your situation, but you
would urge us, then, towhatever we doto keep the time limit in
so that the due process would start on time.

I assume that you wouldn't want to see a mediation component
put in in addition to the other time?

Ms. GALARZA. Absolutely not because we lost a summer as a
result of that.

Mr. BAwnzrr. I have two questions for Ms. Roberts. First of all,
just in terms of clarificationand we can look at this. You raised
some interesting points. It is ny understanding that existing regu-
lations, the regulation 300.10, that the term "parent," the defini-
tion of "parent" would include the definition here, and the term
parent means a parent, a guardian, a person acting as the parent
of a child or a surrogate parent and there is a further comment
that the term parent is defined to include persons who are acting
in the place of a .parent, such as a grandmother or stepparent with
whom the child lives, as well as persons who are legally responsible
for a child's welfare.

So I think it is the committee's intent to define parent broadly as
that person who is responsible for the child. Does that address your
concerns with the language of limiting the attorney to represent
the parent?

Ms. Roman. Are we talking aboutyou are talking about sec-
tion 12(b)?

Mr. BAwriarrr. Yes.
Ms. Roams. All right. When a nonprofit organization takes on a

casein my case, Advocates for Children took on my case, and for
them to be able to be coveredmany of the agencies take on cases
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like this and they are out the money because they are not the legal
guardians or the parents of the child. So we would like to include
coverage for actions brought by nonprofit organizations on their
behalf.

Mr. BARTLETT. On behalf of the child.
Ms. LAMM. On behalf of the child.
Mr. Bmenzrr. I understand. I think, at least from my perception,

I would like to have the parent always have the final say in what
the legal decisions that the attorney makes, and not someone else.You a: had some questions which is a matter ofthey are good
to raiseas a matter of legislative history, at least from my under-
standing, I would help to answer them for the record today so that
we can establish legislative history.

On page 12 of your testimony, you ask, "Is a record"and these
are with regard to the informal mee 'ngs between the parent and
the school board--what is meant by meeting informally? "Is a
record kept that will be used by the LEA attorney in the adminic
trative hearing?" The answer, as far as the intent of the bill, no.Number two is "Will there be a negotiator to mediate betweei
the two parties?" The answer is not necessarily unless l ath parties
want a mediator.

Number three is "Who will be authorized to be present at the
informal meeting?" The parent and the school board would both
choose their own sides.

Number four is what sanctions will be available to the parentwho is not provided an opportunity for an informal meeting." We
haven't included any sanctions h this.

I guess the last is, "Will the timeliness of the procedural safe-
guard section not be undercut by this meeting?" The answer is no;it is our intent that the timeliness would continue on, or the time
limits r To.qd continue on and the informal meetings would be in

.)ti to that, but nct to add to the time constraints.
I yield back the balahJe, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. WILLIAMS [presiding]. Mr. Maggi.
Mr. BIAGGI. I have no questions. The witnesses have spoken very

well and their stories deliver the message.
Mr. WILLIAMP. The Chair would like to note that Joan Herring-

ton is accompanying Ms. Roberts here today and both are parents
representing the Con anrtium for Citizens with Developmental Dis-
abilities. The :lair also notes a fourth presence at the table today,
whom I believe is Sharon Roberts. He witness here today is not

Ms. Galarza, again, your testimony was forceful and very frank.
You refer to this ordeal as 5 years of b. -.ttle. One statement in your
testimon, particular I v stood out for ma, and perhaps it is not en-
tirely inapnropriate for me to read it buck to you

The injustice faced by parmts without attorneys is especially severe in a case likemine where the parent prevails at the administrative level. I was satisfied with the
decision of the State Edr.cation Agency. I did not file a lawsuit in Federal court, the
school did. They have not stopped appealing and they won't. There is no incentivefor them not to.

I would ask that you think about the stubborness of this school district in Texasand about the children who 1 da may have Ow; rights under the law violated.

69



ill;

Your traveling here to present your testimony is not lost upon

this :onuuittt. It is valuable and speaking for both sides here, we

want you to know that it is he full and complete intention of this

committee to right wrongs. pass legislation to see that they

don't happen again. and to level the field for handicapped children

and their parents As you travel back home, we want you to beer

in mind the value of your testimony and your 5-year battle. You

have impressed your congressman and others from Texas and you

have impressed this committee.
Ms Roberts. you mentioned that the change in language from

parent or legal representative to parent or guardian might elimi-

nate protection for handicapped children who are wards of the
State. but I do want to point this out, as much for you as for the
record. because I believe it is important.

Under the statute. the term parent is interpreted tom clude the
child's real parents. a legal guardian or a court-appoed surro-
gate parent if the child is a ward of the State, and under existing
regulations. regulation 300.10, a parent is defined as follows: As
used in this part. the term "parent' means a parent, a guardian, a
person acting as a r Arent of a child or a surrogate parent who has
been appointed, in accordance with the regulation 300.514. The
term does not include the State if the child is a ward of the State.

We very much appreciateMr. Biaggi, did you place your state-
ment in the record yet?

Mr. BIAGGI. I made my few remarks. [Laughter.)
Mr. WILMA'S. Did he? I am not at all surprised.
We very much appreciate the testimony of all of you today and

the attendance of those here.
(Prepared statement from the Association for Persons With

Severe Handicaps follows:)

PUPA RID STATtNINT FROM THE ASSOCIATION FOR PERSONS WITH SWIMS HANDICAPS

The Association for Persons with Severe Handicaps wishes to thank this Subcom-
mittee for the interest in children with handicapping conditions as expressed in
H.R 1523 and for these timely heariagii. TASH joins with you in a long-standing
interest in protecting the rights of individuals with handicaps to the access of free
and enpronriate education and full participation in our society. We strongly teel
$ it sage of this legislation will reaffirm the rights and protections available to
c Aildren who experience handicapping conditions urger PL 94-142 and Section 604
prior to the court's decision

Legal protections should not be limited only to parents who can afford legal repre-
sentation. Despite the progress that has been made in expanding educational oppor-
tunitise for children who experience handicaps there are still problems with the
provision of appropriate special education programs and related services in some
school disaricts This bill has the limited purpose cf clarifying wtat has always been
the intent of Congress in protecting the educationnl rights of' children who are
liamocIpped.

As >xi are aware, this legislation has a direct impact on over 4 million children
and their familizi Before the Snug' v. Robinson decition the potential of a parent
to seek court scion to protect their child's rights to free and ai-.firopriate public
education had significant impact on school system's level of responsiveness. This
level of responsiveness has diminished as a result of the court Seddon.

It is clear to us that passage of this legislation is critical. Delays in the consider-
ation of this bill will negatively impact children in every school district in every
state. Program and placement decisions will continue without challenge as to their
appryriateness as parents will .ion Ilitve the means to question the decisions of
their school systems. Simply stated, the educational rights established undo' Public
Low 94-142 and Section ;.04 become empty promises without reinforcement.
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There have been three concerns with the Handicapped Children's Protection Act
raised by the Consortium for Citizens with Disabilities. We fully support the CCDD'e
efforts relative to children who are wards of the state, the limitation of attorney's
fees to court proceedings and the language in Section 4(B) that discusses informal
complaint procedures.

We would like to see as a part of this measure language affirming the inclusion of
children without parents or guardians under the protection of this Act.

As pointed out in the CCDD testimony, while rare indeed, there are occasions
when a school system persists all the way to court with cases totally without merit.
The parents must have legal counsel in such cases through the entire proceeding,
and the opportunity for court-awarded attorney's fees for the proceedings in their
entirety should not be precluded.

Certainly, it is in the beet interest of ell parties to settle the disputes out of the
court room. We support efforts to encourage such settlements. However, the effect
of the language in the bill could indeed prove detrimental to parents who are faced
with a school district's refusal to mediate prior to litigation. We would encourage
the Subcommittee to address the questions raised by the Consortium when the legis-
lation is being marked-up.

TASH, a coalition of members strongly interested in issues impacting upon the
lives of citizens who experience handicapping condition' realizes deeply the impor-
tance of these critical laws and promises. Our members have readied themselves to
meet the challenge. necessary to offer child: en with handicaps the same rights and
privily es extended to their peers without handicaps. We as individuals and as a
group of well over 5500 stand ready to assist in any way with the passage of this
legislation. We cannot state strongly enough our awareness that this bill must be
moved to protect the rights of children with handicapping conditions.

Thank you again for your concern and please know that you can count on us for
continued support.

Mr. WnliAms. This hearing is concluded.
[Whereupon, at 3 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned, to re-

convene subject to the call of the Chair.]
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